

Department of Women's and Children's Health Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

CANONICAL AND NONCANONICAL TRANSDUCERS FOR CALCIUM SIGNALING:

Role of Na,K-ATPase and angiotensin receptor

Zuzana Khorshidi



Stockholm 2013

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Larserics Digital Print AB

© Zuzana Khorshidi, 2013 ISBN 978-91-7549-398-5

To my family: Ali and Sam

ABSTRACT

Calcium (Ca²⁺) is the most universal and versatile signal in the cell. This versatility is based on the speed, amplitude and spatio-temporal patterning of the Ca²⁺ events. The inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor (IP₃R) is one of the main Ca²⁺ channels responsible for the Ca²⁺ release from the intracellular stores. In a response to various stimuli, IP₃R is able to generate variety of Ca²⁺ signals, ranging from Ca²⁺ transients to Ca²⁺ oscillations of different frequencies.

In this thesis we studied regulation of canonical and non-canonical signaling pathways that activate IP₃R-mediated Ca²⁺ signaling. The canonical pathway is represented in this thesis by angiotensin II type 1 receptor (AT1R) Gaq_{/11} protein-coupled signaling, which triggers IP₃R-mediated Ca²⁺ signals by stimulation of IP₃ production. The non-canonical pathway is represented by Na,K-ATPase, which activates IP₃R independently on the presence of IP₃ through allosteric effect.

AT1R, together with dopamine D1-like receptor (D1R), represent a counterregulatory system that controls sodium uptake in renal proximal tubules. We have shown that AT1R and D1R form a heterodimer. We have demonstrated that the stimulation of either of the receptors induce heterologous desensitization of the other receptor. Activation of D1R resulted in rapid and reversible uncoupling of AT1R from its G protein-coupled signaling pathway followed by internalization of the receptor and *vice versa;* stimulation of AT1R abolished D1R mediated cAMP production and triggered D1R internalization.

Na,K-ATPase, in addition to its function as an ion pump, serves also as a signal transducer. Ouabain, a highly specific Na,K-ATPase ligand, was shown to trigger slow Ca^{2+} oscillations through the Na,K-ATPase/IP₃R signaling complex. We have described that the cytoskeleton associated protein, ankyrin B, stabilizes the Na,K-ATPase and IP₃R interaction. Down-regulation of ankyrin B in COS7 cells using siRNA, resulted in reduction and dysregulation of ouabain-triggered Ca²⁺ oscillations, and abolishment of NF-kB activation.

In 2006, Hilgenberg et al. (Cell 2006 Apr 125:359) reported that 20-kD C-terminal fragment of agrin (agrin C20) is a new ligand of Na,K-ATPase α 3 that inhibits its pumping activity. The original purpose of our study was to examine whether agrin C20 has also capacity to induce signaling function of Na,K-ATPase α 3. We have shown that the solubilized agrin C20, which we received from the authors of the Cell paper, is not selective for Na,K-ATPase α 3, but has a capacity to trigger slow Ca²⁺ oscillations in COS7 cells *via* Na,K-ATPase α 1 and also to inhibit the pumping activity of the Na,K-ATPase α 1. These effects were dependent on the intact ouabain binding site. Solubilized agrin C20 was also found to trigger slow Ca²⁺ oscillations superimposed on the spontaneous fast frequency Ca²⁺ oscillations in rat primary hippocampal neurons. The naturally occurring 22-kD C-terminal fragment of agrin did not trigger Ca²⁺ signal in COS7 cells. Mass-spectrometry analysis revealed presence of 5-7 mM ouabain in the solubilized agrin C20 was activity in the mouse brain lysate.

In conclusion we have described new mechanisms regulating canonical and noncanonical activators of IP_3R Ca²⁺ signaling through protein-protein interaction and allosteric modulation.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- I. Xiao Liu*, Zuzana Špicarová*, Susanna Rydholm, Juan Li, Hjalmar Brismar, Anita Aperia.
 Ankyrin B modulates the function of Na,K-ATPase/Inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate receptor signaling microdomain. J Biol Chem 283:11461-11468, 2008
- II. Farah Khan, Zuzana Špicarová, Sergey Zelenin, Ulla Holtbäck, Lena Scott, Anita Aperia.
 Negative reciprocity between angiotensin II type 1 and dopamine D1 receptors in rat renal proximal tubule cells.
 Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 295: F1110–F1116, 2008.
- III. Zuzana Khorshidi, Xiao Liu, Alexander Bondar, Hjalmar Brismar, Anita Aperia.
 Reported effects of agrin on the function of Na,K-ATPase may be explained by a contamination.

Manuscript.

*Equal contribution.

PUBLICATIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS

Blom H, Rönnlund D, Scott L, **Špicarová Z**, Rantanen V, Widengren J, Aperia A, Brismar H. Nearest neighbor analysis of dopamine D1 receptors and Na(+)-K(+)-ATPases in dendritic spines dissected by STED microscopy.Microsc Res Tech. 2012 Feb;75(2):220-8.

Blom H, Rönnlund D, Scott L, **Špicarová Z**, Widengren J, Bondar A, Aperia A, Brismar H. Spatial distribution of Na+-K+-ATPase in dendritic spines dissected by nanoscale superresolution STED microscopy.BMC Neurosci. 2011 Jan 27;12:16.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION1		
	1.1 Calo	cium signaling	1
	$1.2 Ca^{2-1}$	transport mechanisms	1
	1.2.1	Plasma membrane	1
	1.2.1.1	Voltage gated calcium channels (VGCCs)	1
	1.2.1.2	Receptor-operated calcium channels	2
	1.2.1.3	Store-operated calcium channels (SOCs)	2
	1.2.1.4	Na ⁺ /Ca ²⁺ exchanger (NCX)	2
	1.2.1.5	Plasma membrane Ca ²⁺ ATPase (PMCA)	3
	1.2.1.6	Transient receptor potential channels (TRPCs)	3
	1.2.2	Endoplasmic reticulum	3
	1.2.2.1	Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor (IP ₃ R)	3
	1.2.2.2	Ryanodine receptor (RyR)	6
	1.2.2.3	Sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca ²⁺ ATPase (SERCA)	6
	1.3 Ca ²⁻	oscillations	6
	1.3.1	Generation of cytosolic Ca ²⁺ oscillations	7
	1.3.2	Regulation of Ca ²⁺ oscillations pattern	8
	1.3.2.1	Agonist concentration control of Ca ²⁺ oscillations	8
	1.3.2.2	The role of IP_3R in the regulation of Ca^{2+} oscillations	8
	1.3.2.3	The role of GPCRs in the regulation of Ca ²⁺ oscillations	9
	1.3.2.4	Ryanodine receptors (RyRs)	. 10
	1.4 Dec	oding of Ca ²⁺ signal	. 10
	1.5 Na,1	K-ATPase	. 11
	1.5.1	Na,K-ATPase structure	. 12
	1.5.2	The catalytic cycle of Na,K-ATPase	. 14
	1.5.3	Regulation of the Na,K-ATPase function	. 14
	1.5.3.1	Substrate concentration	. 14
	1.5.3.2	Phosphorylation	. 15
	1.5.3.3	Plasma membrane lipid composition	. 15
	1.5.3.4	Association with cytoskeletal proteins	. 15
	1.5.3.5	Ligands of Na,K-ATPase	. 16
	1.5.4	Na,K-ATPase as a signal transducer	. 16
	1.5.4.1	Na,K-ATPase and Ca ²⁺ signaling	. 16
	1.5.4.2	Na,K-ATPase and Src signaling pathway	. 17
	1.5.4.3	Physiological and pathophysiological effects of the Na,K-ATPase signaling	זפ
		17	
	1.5.5	Na,K-ATPase associated genetic diseases	. 18
	1.6 G p	rotein-coupled receptors	. 19
	1.6.1	Regulation of GPCR activity	. 20
	1.6.2	Angiotensin receptors	. 21
	1.6.3	Dopamine receptors	. 23
	1.7 Dop	amine and angiotensin control of natriuresis	. 23

2	SPE	ECIFIC AIMS	25	
3 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS			26	
	3.1	RNA interference	26	
	3.2	Ca ²⁺ imaging	27	
	3.3	Ca ²⁺ data analysis	28	
	3.4	Na,K-ATPase activity assays	29	
	3.5	Identification of the protein-protein interaction	29	
	3.6	NF-κB activation	31	
	3.7	cAMP production assay	31	
	3.8	Transfection and over-expression of the proteins	31	
	3.9	Fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP)	32	
	3.10	Cell surface biotinylation	33	
4	RES	SULTS AND DISCUSSION	34	
	4.1	Reciprocal interaction between AT1R andD1R	34	
	4.1.	1 Results and comments	34	
	4.1.2	2 Future perspectives	36	
4.2 The role of ankyrin B in the Na,K-ATPase/IP3R signaling		The role of ankyrin B in the Na,K-ATPase/IP3R signaling	37	
4.2.1 Res 4.2.2 Fut		1 Results and comments	37	
		2 Future perspectives	39	
	4.3	The role of agrin in regulation of Na,K-ATPase function	40	
	4.3.	1 Results and comments	40	
	4.3.2	2 Review of studies identifying Na,K-ATPase α3 as a new agrin recep	tor46	
	4.3.3	3 Future perspectives	47	
5	CON	NCLUSIONS	50	
6	AKI	AKNOWLEDGEMENTS		
7	REF	FERENCES	54	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AngII	Angiotensin II
Ank	Ankyrin
AM	Acetoxymethyl
AMPA	α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionic acid
ATP	Adenosine trisphosphate
AT1R	Angiotensin II type 1 receptor
CaM	Calmoduline
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CaMKII	Ca ²⁺ /calmoduline-dependent kinase II
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate
CNQX	6-cyano-7-nitroquinoxaline-2,3-dione
CICR	Calcium induced calcium release
CTS	Cardiotonic steroid
DAG	Diacylglycerol
D1R	Dopamine D1 receptor
EGFP	Enhanced green fluorescent protein
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	Extracellular signal regulated kinase
FRAP	Fluorescence recovery after photobleaching
GAP	GTPase activating proteins
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor
GRK	G protein-coupled receptor kinase
GST	Glutathione S-transferase
GTP	Guanosine trisphosphate
IBMX	3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine
IP ₃	Inositol 1.4.5-trisphosphate
IP ₃ R	Inositol 1.4.5-trisphosphate receptor
MAPK	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MuSK	Muscle specific kinase
mGluR	Metabotropic glutamate receptor
NCX	Na^+/Ca^{2+} -exchanger
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NMDAR	N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor
PM	Plasma membrane
PKA	cAMP dependent protein kinase
PKC	Protein kinase C
PKG	cGMP dependent protein kinase
PLC	Phospholipase C
RGS	Regulators of G protein signaling
	Puonodina recontor
ILYIL GIDNIA	Short interfering DNA
SIKINA	Short Interfering KIVA
SK TCD	T cell recentor
	r-cen receptor
VGCC	voltage gated calcium channel

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Calcium signaling

Calcium (Ca²⁺) has been recognized as a universal second messenger that is involved in the variety of vital cellular functions and processes like proliferation, fertilization, differentiation, learning and memory, apoptosis, excretion, etc. The ability of Ca²⁺ signaling to regulate all these diverse processes is allowed by its high versatility, which depends on speed, amplitude and spatial-temporal patterning. Rapid highly localized Ca²⁺ spikes regulate fast responses, whereas slower responses are controlled by global Ca²⁺ transients and intracellular Ca²⁺ waves (Berridge et al., 2003).

In the resting state the cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration is low, around 100 nM, whereas the extracellular and intracellular stores reach the Ca^{2+} concentration 1000 to 10 000 times higher (Uhlen and Fritz, 2010). This high gradient makes the cells capable to sense even small changes in the cytosolic Ca^{2+} level.

Every cell possesses a Ca^{2+} signaling toolkit containing mechanisms that trigger Ca^{2+} signal, mechanisms of Ca^{2+} entry into the cytoplasm, and mechanisms that restore the resting state of the cytosolic Ca^{2+} . The extensive variability of each component of the Ca^{2+} signaling and the possibility to assemble various combinations enables to create wide spectrum of different spatial and temporal profiles of the Ca^{2+} signal. The Ca^{2+} signaling toolkit includes cell surface receptors, Ca^{2+} channels, Ca^{2+} pumps and exchangers and Ca^{2+} sensors.

 Ca^{2+} signal can be generated as a release from the intracellular stores as well as an influx from extracellular space across the plasma membrane. The main intracellular Ca^{2+} store is considered to be an endoplasmic reticulum (ER); however other cell compartments such as mitochondria, Golgi apparatus (GA), nuclear envelope, endosomes and lysosomes possess high Ca^{2+} concentration as well.

1.2 Ca²⁺ transport mechanisms

1.2.1 Plasma membrane

 Ca^{2+} can enter cell from the extracellular space *via* variety of Ca^{2+} channels of different properties which use the electrochemical gradient across the plasma membrane as driving force for Ca^{2+} transport.

1.2.1.1 Voltage gated calcium channels (VGCCs)

VGCCs can be found mostly on the plasma membrane of excitable cells. They are activated by membrane depolarization and generate rapid Ca^{2+} fluxes that control processes such as contraction, secretion, neurotransmission, and gene expression. Their activity is essential to couple electrical signals in the cell surface to

physiological events in cells. Expression of the VGCCs has been also described on the plasma membrane of the non-excitable cells like renal tubular cells (where VGCCs play role for example in volume regulatory machinery, or apoptosis) (Bozic and Valdivielso, 2012), or T-cells (where VGCCs have been shown to shape the TCR Ca^{2+} response) (Badou et al., 2013).

1.2.1.2 Receptor-operated calcium channels

Receptor-operated Ca^{2+} channels are opened upon binding of their specific ligand. Typical example of the plasma membrane receptor operated Ca^{2+} channel is NMDA receptor that is activated by glutamate. NMDA receptor is not selective for Ca^{2+} but it is also permeable for Na⁺ and K⁺. NMDA receptor is localized to the postsynaptic density and it is responsible for most of the Ca^{2+} influx in a response to the synaptic activity. NMDAR Ca^{2+} signal is crucial for induction of synaptic plasticity and for activating intracellular signaling pathways involved in learning and memory (Paoletti et al., 2013).

1.2.1.3 Store-operated calcium channels (SOCs)

SOCs are Ca^{2+} channels in the plasma membrane that are activated by depletion of the ER intracellular Ca^{2+} stores. SOCs are composed of the protein complex including plasma membrane protein Orai1 that forms a pore of the Ca^{2+} channel and STIM1 proteins that are located in the membrane of ER and can sense decrease of the luminal Ca^{2+} level. When the ER Ca^{2+} stores are depleted, STIM associates with Orai in the plasma membrane and activates store-operated Ca^{2+} entry and replenishing of ER Ca^{2+} stores (Berna-Erro et al., 2012).



Fig 1.1 *Ca*²⁺ *transporters*

1.2.1.4 Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger (NCX)

NCX is an ion transport channel that transports Ca^{2+} across the plasma membrane against its electrochemical gradient utilizing energy stored in the

electrochemical gradient of Na⁺ (mainly maintained by Na, K-ATPase). Typically it transports one Ca²⁺ in exchange for three Na⁺. It is a reversible transporter and the direction of the Ca²⁺ transport depends on the Na⁺, Ca²⁺, and K⁺ concentrations, membrane potential and the transport stoichiometry. In non-excitable cells it is one of the main mechanisms that extrude Ca²⁺ from the cell. In the conditions when intracellular Na⁺ raises (for example after Na, K-ATPase inhibition) the NCX may work in forward direction and let Ca²⁺ flow in (Ruknudin and Lakatta, 2007).

1.2.1.5 Plasma membrane Ca²⁺ ATPase (PMCA)

PMCA is a transport protein that removes Ca^{2+} from the cell. To move Ca^{2+} ions across the plasma membrane against their electrochemical gradient it uses energy from the ATP hydrolysis. PMCA together with NCX are the main mechanisms of Ca^{2+} extrusion. Since there exists a great electrochemical gradient that forces entry of the Ca^{2+} into the cell, it is extremely important to keep the cytosolic Ca^{2+} levels low for proper cell signaling as well as to prevent Ca^{2+} induced cytotoxicity (Giacomello et al., 2013).

1.2.1.6 Transient receptor potential channels (TRPCs)

TRPCs are group of ion channels conducting Ca^{2+} , Na^+ , or K^+ , that are in the front line of the sensory systems, responding to the signals from the outer environment such as temperature, sound, touch, chemicals or light. Most of the TRPCs are not Ca^{2+} selective except TRPM4 and 5. Some of the TRPCs family members have been shown to be activated after Ca^{2+} depletion of the ER and contribute to the store-operated Ca^{2+} entry (Gees et al., 2012).

1.2.2 Endoplasmic reticulum

ER is the main store of the intracellular Ca^{2+} . Membrane of the ER contains a number of proteins, Ca^{2+} channels and pumps that regulate both Ca^{2+} release and Ca^{2+} re-uptake.

1.2.2.1 Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor (IP₃R)

 IP_3R is together with ryanodine receptor the major mechanism of the Ca²⁺ release from the ER. IP_3R is a ligand gated Ca²⁺ channel belonging to a super family of ion channels with six transmembrane domains. IP_3R mediated Ca²⁺ release is essential step in numerous signaling pathways of many vital cell function. IP_3R function can be regulated by high variety of mechanisms. This assures high versatility of the Ca²⁺ signal generated by IP_3R and its integration with multiple signaling pathways.

Classically, IP_3R is divided into three regions. N-terminal ligand binding region, regulatory and coupling region, and the C-terminal consisting of six transmembrane helices and short cytoplasmic tail. More recently the structure of IP_3R was divided into five functional domains (Fig 1.2). The IP_3 binding core domain is the minimum region necessary for recognition and binding of the IP_3 . N- terminal coupling domain physically interacts with IP₃ binding domain and functions as a suppressor of IP₃ binding. Deletion of this region leads to the massive enhancement of IP₃ binding. The signal for IP₃ binding is transferred *via* N-terminal and internal coupling domain to the gatekeeper domain which triggers conformational changes in the transmembrane/channel-forming domain that leads to opening of the channel (Mikoshiba, 2007).



Fig 1.2 IP3R structure

Up to date there have been described three subtypes of IP₃R encoded by three genes: IP₃R type1, type2, and type3. Diversity of IP₃Rs is further increased by existence of splicing variants. Functional IP₃R Ca²⁺ channel is formed by four IP₃R molecules and there has been described both homo- and hetero-tetramers formation. IP₃R isoforms shares more than 65% homology in their sequence and differs in IP₃ sensitivity, susceptibility to various regulatory mechanisms, and spatial and temporal distribution. Most of the cell types express more than one IP₃R isoform but their expression patterns differ between cell types and tissues (Parys and De Smedt, 2012).

The IP₃R function is regulated by a number of factors:

*IP*₃: IP₃ is a ligand and activator of IP₃R. IP₃ is a second messenger that is produced after stimulation of cell surface receptors by various signal molecules like hormones, growth factors, neurotransmitters, *etc.* Precursor of IP₃, phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate, phospholipid present in the plasma membrane can be cleaved by phospholipase C (PLC) into IP₃ and 1,2-diacylglycerol (DAG), an activator of several effectors including protein kinase C (PKC). There have been described six families of PLCs and each of them consists of several isoforms and splicing variants. This assures the controlled production of IP₃ and DAG in different cells type triggered by different stimuli and receptors (Vines, 2012).

 Ca^{2+} : The IP₃R function is regulated by Ca²⁺. The IP₃R has bell shaped Ca²⁺ dependence. Low concentrations of Ca²⁺ (100-300 nM) have stimulatory effect on the opening of IP₃R channel whereas higher Ca²⁺ concentrations lead to the closing of the channel. In the absence of Ca²⁺, IP₃ is not able to trigger Ca²⁺ release from ER.

Binding of Ca^{2+} also increases sensitivity of IP₃R to IP₃ (Patterson et al., 2004). There have been described seven sites for Ca^{2+} binding. Ca^{2+} has been also suggested to play a role in triggering IP₃R ubiquitination (Alzayady and Wojcikiewicz, 2005). Beside the regulation of IP₃R function by direct binding of Ca^{2+} there has been proposed an indirect effect through Ca^{2+} binding proteins like calmoduline. IP₃R is not only sensitive to the Ca^{2+} concentration in the cytoplasm but is also regulated by the concentration in the lumen of the ER. The low Ca^{2+} concentration in the ER lead to IP₃R inhibition to avoid excessive Ca^{2+} depletion of the ER (Caroppo et al., 2003).

Phosphorylation: IP₃R is phosphorylated by multiple kinases. Phosphorylation of IP₃R by c-AMP dependent kinase (PKA) increases its responsiveness to IP₃. This is particularly interesting because it provides the cross-talk between signaling of two main second messengers, cAMP and Ca²⁺. The state of PKA phosphorylation can be very dynamically changed since IP₃R is in the complex with both PKA and protein phosphatase 1 and 2A. cGMP dependent kinase (PKG) phosphorylates IP₃R at the same sites as PKA. Ca²⁺ activated protein kinase C (PKC) and Ca²⁺/calmoduline protein kinase II (CAMK-II) phosphorylation of IP₃R increases its sensitivity to IP₃-mediated Ca²⁺ release and thus provides positive feedback loop. IP₃R can be further phosphorylated by the tyrosine kinases from Src family, various serine/threonine kinases, cell cycle- dependent kinases, and others (Patterson et al., 2004).

Protein-protein interaction: To date there have been identified up to 50 proteins that can interact with IP₃R and regulate its localization and function. Together with previously described regulatory mechanisms, interaction with various proteins contributes to an accurate and precise control of IP₃R signaling in response to different extracellular stimuli. One group of IP_3R interacting proteins are the cytoskeleton associated proteins and scaffolding proteins which promote stable subcellular localization of IP₃R. One example are the ankyrins, a family of adaptor proteins that can interact both with proteins in the membrane of ER and the plasma membrane and thus can help to form microdomains between the two membranes (Mohler et al., 2005). In neuronal cells, another scaffolding protein, Homer, assembles IP₃R with mGluR and provides regulation of the mGluR/ IP₃R signaling at the excitatory synapse (Tu et al., 1998). Since increased cytosolic Ca^{2+} level leads to cell death by apoptosis, it is not surprising that the IP_3R is in complex with many apoptotic proteins. During apoptosis, IP₃R can be cleaved by apoptotic proteases caspase 3 and calpain. Soon after cell receives apoptotic stimuli, cytochrome c is translocated to the proximity of ER, where it interacts with C-terminus of IP₃R and inhibits Ca^{2+} -induced closing of the IP₃R. Subsequent increase of the cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration causes release of more cytochrome c (Boehning et al., 2003). Recently there has been described another IP₃R binding protein, called IRBIT, which serves as the IP_3R pseudo-ligand. It binds to the IP_3 binding site of IP_3R . In low IP_3 concentration, IRBIT binds to the IP₃R and decreases its sensitivity to IP₃, while in high IP₃ concentrations IRBIT is released and IP₃R can be activated (Ando et al., 2006; Ando et al., 2003). Study by Zhang et al. (2006) has shown that N-terminus of the IP₃R can directly interact with N-terminus of Na,K-ATPase, and that ouabain, Na,K-ATPase ligand, triggers conformational changes that lead to IP₃R activation independently on the presence of IP₃.

1.2.2.2 Ryanodine receptor (RyR)

Ryanodine receptors are localized in the plasma membrane of sarco-/endoplasmic reticulum (SR/ER). They are known mostly for their involvement in excitation-contraction coupling, releasing of Ca^{2+} from the sarcoplasmic reticulum and thus driving muscle contraction. The activation of RvR is controlled by the concentration of the cytosolic Ca²⁺. Small elevation of intracellular Ca²⁺ induces opening of RyR and release of more Ca²⁺. RyRs are mainly responsible for Ca²⁺induced Ca²⁺ release (CICR) which is crucial for excitation-contraction coupling in cardiac muscle (Fabiato, 1983) as well as it is important mechanism of Ca²⁺ signaling in many cells. The high intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration on the other hand causes closing of RyR channels. RyRs are also capable of sensing the Ca^{2+} concentration inside the SR/ER. In the condition when SR/ER is overloaded, RyR opens and releases Ca2+ into the cytosol. This process is called store overloadinduced Ca²⁺ release (SOICR) (Palade et al., 1983). RyR opening is not entirely dependent on the presence of Ca^{2+} . The skeletal muscle isoform of RyR is believed to interact with dihydropyridine receptor and to be allosterically activated after the voltage changes across the plasma membrane even in the absence of the extracellular Ca²⁺ (Proenza et al., 2002). RyRs function can be modulated by protein-protein interactions (e.g. with calmoduline, homer), and phosphorylation (e.g. PKA, PKG, CaMK II) (Ozawa, 2010).

1.2.2.3 Sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase (SERCA)

SERCA is a transporter that actively translocates Ca^{2+} from the cytosol to the internal stores of SR/ER. SERCA plays major role in the muscle contraction and its dysfunction is connected with many pathophysiological conditions, such as heart failure (Frank et al., 2002). Overall, the Ca^{2+} homeostasis that SERCA pump contributes to is important for Ca^{2+} signaling. Nevertheless, more regulated function of SERCA has been implicated in specific Ca^{2+} signaling events such as generation and propagation of Ca^{2+} waves (Li et al., 2012; Maxwell and Blatter, 2012).

1.3 Ca²⁺ oscillations

 Ca^{2+} signal is a result of the interplay between activation and inactivation of Ca^{2+} channels that transport Ca^{2+} from extracellular space as well as from internal stores. It is well known that a robust and prolonged increase of the cytosolic Ca^{2+} level leads to cell death both by apoptosis and necrosis. By utilizing brief pulses of Ca^{2+} , instead of tonic rises, cells avoid the deleterious effects of sustained cytosolic

 Ca^{2+} levels. Furthermore, signaling with Ca^{2+} oscillations is beneficial for the cell since the combination of the duration, amplitude and frequency of the Ca^{2+} peaks can hypothetically give rise to an infinite number of signals.

With the development of methods enabling to detect Ca^{2+} levels in the living cells, Ca^{2+} oscillations have been shown to regulate numerous physiological processes through the life, including fertilization, cell maturation and differentiation, cell cycle progression, mitochondrial respiration, chemotaxis, secretion and gene transcription (Thul et al., 2008).

1.3.1 Generation of cytosolic Ca²⁺ oscillations

It is generally accepted that Ca^{2+} oscillations are generated as a periodical release of the Ca^{2+} from the internal stores through the IP₃R. In excitable cells the initial Ca^{2+} entry might be due to an activation of the plasma membrane channels, followed by the amplification of the signal by release from the internal stores.

The enormous complexity of the Ca^{2+} signaling makes it difficult to fully understand the mechanism behind the generation of Ca^{2+} oscillations. Data resulting from more than 20 years of extensive studies together with mathematical modeling proposed a model based on the biphasic regulation of IP₃R and phenomena of Ca^{2+} induced Ca^{2+} release (CICR).

In simplification, when the intracellular Ca^{2+} level increases, in most cases due to IP₃ induced IP₃R activation, IP₃R is sensitized by the Ca²⁺ which leads to amplification of the initial signal and further increase of the cytosolic Ca²⁺ level. However the high Ca²⁺ level has a negative feedback on the IP₃R, which closes allowing Ca²⁺ level to decrease (Fig 1.3). In this model, Ca²⁺ oscillations can be generated under the constant concentrations of IP₃ (Dupont et al., 2011).



Although this model is applicable to most of the IP₃ stimulated Ca²⁺ oscillations, it can't be considered to be universal. Experimental data have shown that in some systems IP₃R generated Ca²⁺ oscillations can't be explained by CICR. For example in MDCK cells (Hirose et al., 1999) and Chinese hamster ovary cells (Young et al., 2003) each Ca²⁺ peak follows elevation of IP₃. In this model, cross-talk between second messengers IP₃ and Ca²⁺ plays a crucial role for a generation of the Ca²⁺ oscillations. IP₃ induced Ca²⁺ release increases sensitivity of IP₃R for IP₃. Furthermore, Ca²⁺ has been shown to be able to activate some of the PLC isoforms, which leads to production of more IP₃. Another model of Ca²⁺ oscillations that are not dependent on CICR are the oscillations induced by activation of mGluR5. mGluR5 is believed to undergo a rapid cycle of PKC phosphorylation and dephosphorylation mediated desensitization and resensitization (Kim et al., 2005; Nash et al., 2001).

1.3.2 Regulation of Ca²⁺ oscillations pattern

The pattern of Ca^{2+} oscillations is dependent on the timing of the Ca^{2+} channel opening, Ca^{2+} clearance, and Ca^{2+} stores reloading. It can be regulated on different levels and each component of the signaling machinery contributes to the shaping of the Ca^{2+} response.

1.3.2.1 Agonist concentration control of Ca^{2+} oscillations

 Ca^{2+} oscillations are triggered by the physiological range of agonist concentration, while saturating concentrations often lead to a single and broad Ca^{2+} transient. Increase of the agonist concentrations within the physiological range often result in increase of Ca^{2+} oscillation frequency (Berridge, 1993; Woods et al., 1986).

1.3.2.2 The role of IP_3R in the regulation of Ca^{2+} oscillations

Regulation of the IP₃R properties, such as IP₃ or Ca²⁺ affinity, has an effect on the Ca²⁺ signaling pattern. IP₃R isoforms differs in their affinity for IP₃ and Ca²⁺ and it has been shown that activation of specific IP₃R subtypes results in generation of Ca²⁺ signaling with different characteristics. Miyakawa et al. (1999) has shown that in genetically modified B-cells expressing either one of the IP₃R isoforms or their combination, the most IP₃ sensitive IP₃R type 2 generates robust and highly regular Ca²⁺ oscillations, IP₃R type 1 generates less regular Ca²⁺ oscillations, and IP₃R type 3, which is the least IP₃ and Ca²⁺ sensitive gives rise only to a Ca²⁺ transient. In vascular myocytes expressing IP₃R1 and IP₃R2, acetylcholine fails to induce Ca²⁺ oscillations when IP₃R2 function is compromised (Morel et al., 2003). Hattori et al. (2004) has shown that wild type HeLa and COS7 cells, that express both IP₃R1 and IP₃R3, respond to ATP stimulation with robust Ca²⁺ transient, while downregulation of IP₃R3 isoform using siRNA leads to oscillatory response to the same stimuli. This suggests that IP₃R3 has in anti- Ca²⁺ oscillatory function in these cells.

Phosphorylation of the IP₃R in most cases changes its affinity for IP₃ and Ca²⁺ and therefore, it may play role in shaping of the Ca²⁺ oscillations. LeBeau et al. (1999) demonstrated that the phosphorylation of IP₃R in the pancreatic acinar cells

determines the properties of IP₃R generated Ca²⁺ oscillations. While acetylcholine or carbachol induce high frequency oscillations superimposed on elevated basal level of Ca²⁺, cholecystokinin triggers slow baseline Ca²⁺ spikes. Both stimuli induce activation of PLC and release of Ca²⁺ through IP₃R, but only cholecystokinin induces rapid phosphorylation of the IP₃R. Lee et al. (2006) has shown that inhibition of MAPK/ERK2 mediated phosphorylation of IP₃R1 lead to inability of the IP₃R to generate Ca²⁺ oscillations during mouse oocyte maturation. In DT-40 lymphoma B-cells phosphorylation of the IP₃R1 by PKA decreases threshold for induction of Ca²⁺ oscillations (Wagner et al., 2004). The role of CaMKII activity in histamine induced Ca²⁺ oscillations in HeLa cells were demonstrated as the treatment with CaMKII specific inhibitor during oscillations caused one large Ca²⁺ spike before the oscillations were terminated (Zhu et al., 1996).

As mentioned earlier, IP₃R can interact with number of proteins. These interactions often contribute to shape the IP_3R generated Ca^{2+} signal. IP_3R has been shown to interact with the Bcl-2 family of anti-apoptotic proteins. There have been reported bi-directional regulation of the IP₃R generated Ca^{2+} signaling by Bcl-2. In T-cell cell line, strong activation of TCR receptor leads to massive increase of intracellular Ca^{2+} that is inhibited in the presence of Bcl-2. On the other hand, when the TCR receptor is activated in the moderate level, it triggers Ca²⁺ oscillations; which's frequency and duration are promoted by the expression of Bcl-2 (Zhong et al., 2006). In MCF-7 cells, Ca²⁺ transient rather than Ca²⁺ oscillations was triggered by ATP in the cells overexpressing Bcl-2 (Palmer et al., 2004). IRBIT has been described as an IP₃R pseudoligand that decreases IP₃R sensitivity to IP₃. Depletion of IRBIT by siRNA in HeLa cells increased the number of HeLa cells responding to ATP treatment with Ca^{2+} oscillations (Ando et al., 2006). Mutations in presenilins are associated with development of the Alzheimer's disease. Presenilins interact with IP₃R and the expression of Alzheimer associated presenilin mutants in DT-40 cells resulted in an increase of frequency of Ca^{2+} oscillations triggered by α -IgM (Cheung et al., 2008).

1.3.2.3 The role of GPCRs in the regulation of Ca^{2+} oscillations

One of the most common triggers that stimulates PLC activity and IP₃ production is *through* activation of G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs). Many studies have reported the role of regulation of the GPCR function in the Ca²⁺ oscillation pattern formation. One of the mechanisms that regulate frequency of Ca²⁺ oscillations is controlled by the activity of regulators of G protein signaling proteins (RGS) that are responsible for inactivation of the G protein by GTP hydrolysis. Luo et al. (2001) have demonstrated that disruption of the RGS activity resulted in two-times increase of frequency of cholecystokinin (CCK)-induced Ca²⁺ oscillations compare to control (Shin et al., 2003). The mGluR5 triggered Ca²⁺ signaling has been shown to be modified by Norbin, factor involved in long-term potentiation (LTP), synaptic plasticity, learning and memory. Activation of mGluR5 transfected into HEK293 cells induced Ca²⁺ oscillations that assigned longer duration and higher

number of peaks in the presence of Norbin. Authors have shown that deletion of Norbin leads to decrease of the amount of mGluR5 in the plasma membrane (Wang et al., 2009).

1.3.2.4 Ryanodine receptors (RyRs)

Another way of Ca^{2+} release from internal stores is through ryanodine receptors. RyRs are activated by Ca^{2+} and thus they significantly contribute to the CICR. The RyR function is most studied in the sarcoplasmic reticulum of muscle cells, where it cooperates with the IP₃R to generate Ca^{2+} oscillatory signal.

1.4 Decoding of Ca²⁺ signal

 Ca^{2+} activates a number of Ca^{2+} binding proteins that either trigger downstream effects or take part on the positive/negative feedback of the Ca^{2+} signaling machinery itself. Ca^{2+} can bind directly to an effector molecule that is responsible for the biological effect of the Ca^{2+} signal (like troponins responsible for muscle contraction) or it can activate other signaling molecules. In general, decoding of the Ca^{2+} signal depends on the kinetics of the Ca^{2+} binding and dissociation and the dynamics and timing of the activation and inactivation of the target molecule.

The key players responsible for Ca^{2+} oscillations frequency decoding are calmodulin (CaM) and protein kinase C (PKC). CaM is a promiscuous regulator with several hundreds of targets known to date, including kinases, phosphatases, cytoskeletal proteins, synaptic proteins, cell cycle proteins, ion channels, and the buffer proteins that regulate intracellular Ca^{2+} stores. Each CaM molecule possesses four Ca^{2+} binding sites that differ in Ca^{2+} binding affinity and kinetics. Moreover Ca^{2+} needs to compete with Mg^{2+} for CaM binding. Binding of Ca^{2+} results in conformational changes of CaM and binding to target molecule.

One of the most widely studied CaM target is the family of $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-$ dependent kinases (CaMK). The most common CaMKII can be activated by high frequency (in a range of Hz) Ca^{2+} spikes. CaMKII is an octamer or decamer and each of the subunit is independently regulated by Ca^{2+} -bound CaM. One single Ca^{2+} peak is not enough to fully activate the kinase. Instead cumulative activation during repetitive Ca^{2+} elevations leads to the kinase activation. If the time between two Ca^{2+} peaks is longer than a time needed for CaM dissociation, CaMKII activity remains low (De Koninck and Schulman, 1998; Dupont et al., 2003). Calcineurin is a Ca^{2+}/CaM activated serine/threonine phosphatase that beside many other targets dephosphorylate CaMKII and thus decreases its activity. Unlike CaMKII, calcineurin is optimally activated by Ca^{2+} oscillations of frequency around 10 m Hz. The properties of calcineurin allow it to be activated with the high Ca^{2+} oscillations frequency as well. However, calcineurin is shifted towards CaMKII (Li et al., 2012).

Conventional protein kinase C (PKC) is activated by binding of Ca^{2+} and DAG. Upon Ca^{2+} stimulation, PKC is translocated to the proximity of the plasma

membrane, where it interacts with DAG and is fully activated. The low frequency of the Ca^{2+} oscillations leads to the fluctuations of the PKC activity, which always returns to the basal level between two Ca^{2+} peaks. On the other hand higher frequencies or persistent Ca^{2+} increase lead to higher and stable amplitude of the PKC activity (Oancea and Meyer, 1998).

 Ca^{2+} oscillation frequency has been shown to dictate which of the Ca^{2+} dependent transcription factors NF-AT (Dolmetsch et al., 1998; Li et al., 1998), NF- κ B (Dolmetsch et al., 1998), and Oct/OAP (Dolmetsch et al., 1998) will be activated. While high frequencies are able to efficiently activate function of all three transcription factors, when the periodicity of Ca^{2+} spikes declines to less than 400s only NF- κ B is activated (Dolmetsch et al., 1998). The difference in the frequency requirements among these factors lies in their stability in the nucleus. NF- κ B has been shown to persist in the nucleus up till 16 min, while NF-AT is rapidly rephosphorylated and exits the nucleus (Dolmetsch et al., 1997).

MAPK/ERK signaling cascade is activated by many stimuli and integrates different signaling pathways. Ca^{2+} oscillations frequency has been shown to modulate activity of Ras protein, an upstream component of the MAPK/ERK pathway. It has been shown that Ras is more efficiently stimulated by Ca^{2+} oscillations than by sustained Ca^{2+} increase (Kupzig et al., 2005). Guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GRFs) and RasGTPase activating proteins (RasGAPs), the main regulators of Ras activity, have been shown to be regulated by direct binding of the Ca^{2+} (Feig, 2011; Walker et al., 2004).

1.5 Na,K-ATPase

Na,K-ATPase is an integral plasma membrane enzyme expressed in virtually every cell. Its main function is to maintain high gradient of Na^+ and K^+ across the plasma membrane. It is a main determinant of intracellular Na⁺ concentration. It uses energy from the ATP hydrolysis to transport 3 Na⁺ out and 2 K⁺ in the cell (Fig 1.4). Due to this 3 $Na^{+}/2$ K⁺ stoichiometry the transport is electrogenic, thereby generating electric potential difference across the plasma membrane. The energy saved in the electrochemical gradient of Na⁺ is used by many symport and antiport transporters Na^{+}/Ca^{2+} -exchanger, Na^{+}/H^{+} -exchanger, $Na^{+}/K^{+}/2Cl$, $Na^{+}/glucose$, such as Na⁺/amino acids co-transporters. This way Na⁺ controls directly or indirectly many essential cell functions like transport of various compounds, regulation of cell volume, intracellular pH, and cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration. The turnover of the Na,K-ATPase is responsible for approximately 30% of the total oxygen consumption and in some organs such as brain and kidney more than 50% of the energy released is used for the active Na^+/K^+ transport (Clausen et al., 1991).



Fig 1.4 Na, K-ATPase ion transport

1.5.1 Na,K-ATPase structure

Na,K-ATPase is composed of three subunits in equimolar ratios. The catalytic α subunit together with the β subunit forms functional enzyme regulated by third subunit that belongs to the FXYD protein family.

The catalytic α subunit is a large polypeptide (≈ 110 kD) consisting of ten transmembrane domains, cytosolic N- and C-termini and four cytoplasmic loops. The α subunit is responsible for the ion transport activity. It contains ATP binding site, Na⁺ and K⁺ binding sites, regulatory phosphorylation sites and binding sites for cardiac glycosides (Lingrel and Kuntzweiler, 1994).



Fig 1.5 Structure of the Na,K-ATPase

The β subunit is an accessory subunit which is important for the maturation and transport of the enzyme to the plasma membrane (Geering, 1991) and is involved in the occlusion of K⁺ and the modulation of the K⁺ and Na⁺ affinity of the enzyme (Geering, 2001; Lutsenko and Kaplan, 1993). It crosses plasma membrane only once and the small N-terminal end is located into the cytoplasm, while long C-terminus is extracellular. Last regulatory subunit represented by FXYD proteins is not essential for Na,K-ATPase catalytic function. It spans plasma membrane once having short intracellular C-terminus and extracellular N-terminus. They have a regulatory function modulating kinetics of the Na⁺ and K⁺ transport (Garty and Karlish, 2006; Therien and Blostein, 2000). Crystal structure of the Na,K-ATPase heterotrimer has been recently resolved (Kanai et al., 2013; Morth et al., 2007; Nyblom et al., 2013; Shinoda et al., 2009).

Four isoforms of the α subunit, $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$, and $\alpha 4$; three isoforms of the β subunit, $\beta 1$, $\beta 2$, and $\beta 3$; and 7 FXYD proteins have been identified in mammals. (Geering, 2006). Alpha isoforms are expressed in a tissue-specific and developmentally regulated manner. The $\alpha 1$ is expressed ubiquitously. High levels of the $\alpha 2$ isoform expression can be found in skeletal muscle, heart, glia cells, adipocytes, vascular smooth muscle, and eye. The $\alpha 3$ isoform is neuron specific but can be also found in ovaries, embryonic cardiomyocytes, and white blood cells of some species. The $\alpha 4$ isoform is expressed in sperms, where it is required for sperm motility (Lingrel, 2010; Orlowski and Lingrel, 1988; Woo et al., 2002). Alpha isoforms differ in their kinetics and substrate affinities (Dobretsov and Stimers, 2005; Munzer et al., 1994).

1.5.2 The catalytic cycle of Na,K-ATPase

During the catalytic cycle of the Na,K-ATPase three Na⁺ ions are transported out of the cell and two K⁺ ions are countertransported out. The Post-Alberts model describes the enzymatic kinetics of Na,K-ATPase (Albers, 1967; Post et al., 1972). There are two major conformational states of Na,K-ATPase, E1 and E2. The pump with bound ATP binds three intracellular Na⁺ ions (E1-ATP 3Na⁺). ATP is hydrolyzed leading to the phosphorylation of the pump (E1P-ADP 3Na⁺). Release of ADP and one Na⁺ ion leads to conformational change of the pump towards E2P state (E2P 2Na⁺), release of the two remaining Na⁺ and binding of two extracellular K⁺ (E2P 2K⁺). Binding of K⁺ leads to dephosphorylation of the pump (E2-2K⁺). Dissociation of the liberated phosphate and ATP binding (E2-ATP 2K⁺) stimulates K⁺ release and changing the enzyme conformation from E2 to the E1 state.



Fig 1.6 Simplified Post-Albers model for ion transport by Na,K-ATPase

Analysis of the crystal structure of Na,K-ATPase in different states helped to understand the mechanisms of ion transport through the plasma membrane. Ion binding sites and ion pathways have been described (Kanai et al., 2013; Morth et al., 2007; Nyblom et al., 2013; Ogawa et al., 2009). The identification of the critical amino acid residues for the catalytic function of Na,K-ATPase helps to explain or predict the functional consequences of the Na,K-ATPase disease-related mutations.

1.5.3 Regulation of the Na,K-ATPase function

The role of the Na,K-ATPase as a determinant of the electrochemical gradient across the plasma membrane is pivotal for the cell survival. Cell is a very dynamic system, therefore Na,K-ATPase activity has to be controlled in a precise way in response to the changes of the ionic environment. Na,K-ATPase activity is regulated by a number of mechanisms.

1.5.3.1 Substrate concentration

The most straightforward mechanism of the Na,K-ATPase activity regulation is through substrate availability and concentration. Na,K-ATPase is activated by Na⁺

and ATP in the cytosolic side and K^+ in the extracellular space. Since the cytosolic concentration of Na⁺ is under normal conditions low, even a small change in the intracellular Na⁺ level has significant effect on Na,K-ATPase activity (Therien and Blostein, 2000).

1.5.3.2 Phosphorylation

Activity of the Na,K-ATPase is regulated by a number of hormones such as dopamine (Aperia et al., 1987), parathyroid hormone (Ribeiro et al., 1994), prolactin (Ibarra et al., 2005), angiotensin II (Gutman et al., 1972), epinephrine, norepinephrin (Aperia et al., 1992), or insulin (Gavryck et al., 1975). The main mechanism of hormone control of the Na,K-ATPase activity is through its phosphorylation and dephosphorylation. Na,K-ATPase contains phosphorylation sites for PKA and PKC kinases (Therien and Blostein, 2000). PKC site is localized to the N-terminus of the al subunit (Beguin et al., 1994). PKA phosphorylation site is located in the last cytoplasmic loop of α subunit and is conserved among all isoforms (Cheng et al., 1997; Fisone et al., 1994). Cheng et al. (1999) have demonstrated that the intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration is important determinant of the effect of PKA and PKC phosphorylation on the Na,K-ATPase activity. Dynamic simulation based on the crystal structure of the Na,K-ATPase revealed that the PKA phosphorylation site can modulate pumping activity by changing the accessibility of the ion-binding site (Poulsen et al., 2012). Na,K-ATPase is dephosphorylated by phosphatases like PP1, PP2B, or calcineurin (Therien and Blostein, 2000). The phosphorylation and dephosphorylation represent short-term regulation mechanism of Na,K-ATPase activity. Hormones such as corticosteroids (Verrey et al., 1996) or thyroid hormone (Cheng et al., 2010) control long term regulation of Na,K-ATPase by affecting its synthesis and degradation.

1.5.3.3 Plasma membrane lipid composition

The lipid composition of the plasma membrane has been suggested to modulate the Na,K-ATPase activity. Crystal structure of the Na,K-ATPase showed binding of a cholesterol molecule (Morth et al., 2007) and the level of cholesterol in the plasma membrane has been shown to have effect on the Na,K-ATPase activity (Cornelius, 1995; Cornelius et al., 2001).

1.5.3.4 Association with cytoskeletal proteins

Association of Na,K-ATPase with cytoskeletal proteins regulate trafficking and subcellular localization of Na,K-ATPase and thus indirectly affect its activity (Devarajan et al., 1994). Na,K-ATPase activity has been also shown to be affected directly by interaction with ankyrin and adducin (Ferrandi et al., 1999). Ankyrins are a family of adaptor proteins responsible for the localization of membrane and cytosolic proteins into specialized membrane domains. Vertebrate ankyrins fall into three classes: ankyrins-R (Ank-R), ankyrins-B (Ank-B), and ankyrins-G (Ank-G) (Mohler et al., 2002). Ank-B has been shown to tether Na,K-ATPase, NCX, and IP₃ receptor into microdomains localized in the T-tubules of cardiomyocytes (Mohler et

al., 2005). Mutations in Ank-B lead to cardiac arrhythmia and long-QT syndrome (Mohler et al., 2003). Ank-G has been also shown to interact with Na,K-ATPase and to regulate its trafficking from ER to Golgi apparatus in polarized cells (Stabach et al., 2008).

1.5.3.5 Ligands of Na,K-ATPase

Na,K-ATPase activity is dose dependently inhibited by its specific ligands, cardiotonic steroids (CTS). To the CTS family belongs for example plant derived digitalis which is used for centuries as a cardiac stimulant. In the venom of toads structurally related bufadienolides have been found. Another digitalis-like compound, widely used in the research, is ouabain. Endogenous ouabain (Hamlyn et al., 1991) and bufadienolides (Hilton et al., 1996) have been identified in human body. Recently a crystal structure of ouabain/Na,K-ATPase complex has been resolved (Laursen et al., 2013; Ogawa et al., 2009). The affinity of the Na,K-ATPase α subunit to CTS differs between isoforms and species. While for example primates express all α isoforms with high ouabain sensitivity, in rodents the ubiquitous α 1 isoform is about 1000 times less ouabain sensitive compare to α 2 and α 3 isoforms (O'Brien et al., 1994).

In 2006, Hilgenberg et al. reported that Na,K-ATPase α 3 is a neuron specific ligand for agrin. Agrin is a proteoglycan abundantly expressed in neuromuscular junctions where it induces acethlycholine receptor clustering *via* signaling through MuSK/LRP4 receptor complex. Authors described 20kD C-terminus of agrin to bind selectively to α 3 isoform of Na,K-ATPase and inhibit its activity.

In a small-diameter neurons in the dorsal root ganglion, Na,K-ATPase α 1 has been shown to interact with secreted protein follistatin 1 (Li et al., 2011). Follistatin 1 has been reported to function as a Na,K-ATPase agonist as it increases the Na,K-ATPase activity by direct binding from the extracellular side.

1.5.4 Na,K-ATPase as a signal transducer

Beside its vital role as an ion pump, Na,K-ATPase has an additional role as a signal transducer. In many studies the modulatory effect of non-inhibitory doses of ouabain on processes like proliferation, apoptosis, cell motility, and cell to cell contact have been demonstrated. To date there are described two main signaling pathways triggered by ouabain: Ca^{2+} signaling and Src kinase activation.

1.5.4.1 Na,K-ATPase and Ca²⁺ signaling

Our group has described an unique and novel mechanism of IP_3R activation. In 2001, Aizman et al. reported that low doses of ouabain trigger slow Ca^{2+} oscillations in the rat proximal tubule cells. These oscillations originated from release of the Ca^{2+} from ER through the IP_3R . Further studies of this phenomenon in COS7 cells led to an interesting finding that the ouabain-induced IP_3R activation is IP_3 independent (Miyakawa-Naito et al., 2003). C-terminal portion of the IP_3R that includes the IP₃ binding domain has been shown to directly interact with N-terminal portion of Na,K-ATPase. Binding of ouabain to Na,K-ATPase results in stabilization of this binding and opening of the IP₃R channel probably via conformational changes. A motif of 35 Leu-Lys-Lys 37 amino acids residues at Na,K-ATPase N-terminus has been identified to be critical for Na,K-ATPase/IP₃R interaction (Zhang et al., 2006). Upon ouabain stimulation, NF- κ B, a Ca²⁺ dependent transcription factor, was shown to be activated and induce cell proliferation and protects cells from apoptosis (Aizman et al., 2001; Burlaka et al., 2013; Li et al., 2006). Recently other cardiotonic steroids digoxin and marinobufagenin have been shown to be able to trigger slow Ca²⁺ oscillations in COS7 cells (Fontana et al., 2013).

1.5.4.2 Na,K-ATPase and Src signaling pathway

Na,K-ATPase has been shown to interact with the members of Src tyrosine kinase family. The binding of ouabain triggers release of the Src kinase resulting in Src phosphorylation and activation. Src is known to phosphorylate multiple targets. One of the downstream effects of ouabain-triggered Src activation is Ca²⁺ release *via* IP₃R. Yuan et al. (2005) demonstrated, that Na,K-ATPase is in the complex with Src, IP₃R and PLC in porcine proximal tubular cells (LLC-PK) and that ouabain binding induces Ca²⁺ transient through the IP₃R activation in Src and PLC dependent manner. In cardiac myocytes and vascular smooth muscle cells (A7r5), ouabain-induced Src activity was shown to be responsible for ouabain-triggered phosphorylation and transactivation of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and subsequent activation of Ras/MAPK signaling cascade (Haas et al., 2002).

Recently a new concept suggesting cross-talk between ouabain-triggered Ca^{2+} oscillatory signaling and Src dependent pathway has evolved. Inhibition of the Src activity resulted in a decrease of a number of COS7 cells that responded to ouabain with Ca^{2+} oscillations (Fontana et al., 2013).

1.5.4.3 Physiological and pathophysiological effects of the Na,K-ATPase signaling

The Na,K-ATPase signaling triggered by low non-inhibitory doses of cardiotonic steroids has been implicated in many physiological and pathological processes. Low frequency Ca²⁺ oscillations triggered by ouabain in renal epithelial cells activates NF- κ B transcriptional factor, which in this system has proproliferative and anti-apoptotic effects. Ouabain has been shown to protect proximal tubule cells from apoptosis induced by serum deprivation (Li et al., 2006) and shigatoxin (Burlaka et al., 2013) through regulation of expression of pro- and anti-apoptotic factors Bax and Bcl-xL. Ouabain-induced NF- κ B activation has been also shown to protect embryonic kidneys from defective development triggered by malnutrition (Li et al., 2010).

Cardiotonic steroid-induced Src and ERK signaling regulate cell growth and differentiation (Lee et al., 2011), apoptosis, and hypertrophic growth (Ferrandi et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2007) in a cell type specific manner. Ouabain-triggered ERK

signaling was implicated in a pathogenesis of autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease as it stimulates cell proliferation and cyst growth (Jansson et al., 2012). Na,K-ATPase is considered to be a new target for anticancer therapy since cardiotonic steroids assign anti-proliferative and pro-apoptotic effects on various types of cancer cells (Kometiani et al., 2005; Kulikov et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2011). Ouabain has been also shown to modulate cell migration (Barwe et al., 2005; Pongrakhananon et al., 2013) and cell-cell contact (Larre et al., 2010), processes that are known to be dysregulated in cancer cell invasion and metastasis.

Cardiotonic steroid induced signaling *via* Na,K-ATPase, Src and ERK was shown to promote glycogen synthesis in skeletal muscle cells (Kotova et al., 2006).

1.5.5 Na,K-ATPase associated genetic diseases

In last decade a new interest in Na,K-ATPase has aroused as mutations of $\alpha 2$ and $\alpha 3$ Na,K-ATPase were found to be associated with familial neurological diseases. Twenty-three missense mutations of the Na,K-ATPase $\alpha 2$ have been identified in the patients with familial hemiplegic migraine type 2 (FHM2), a rare autosomal dominant subtype of migraine with aura. These patients suffer from very severe migraine symptoms including motor weakness or paralysis, in some cases signs of diffuse encephalopathy, coma, prolonged hemiplegia lasting several days, and in few cases seizures (Pietrobon, 2007).

Nine mutations in α 3 Na,K-ATPase have been found to associate with rapidonset dystonia parkinsonism (RDP). RDP is a distinct form of dystonia in which patients experience sudden, often stress induced, onset of parkinsonian symptoms that are unresponsive to standard dopaminergic treatments and not associated with typical Parkinson's brain pathology. Symptoms, which evolve over hours to days, usually start in late adolescence or early adulthood. Patients have limb and cranial dystonia with dysarthria and dysphagia accompanied by bradykinesia, slow gait, and posture instability. Seizures and psychiatric symptoms have been observed in a few patients (Geyer et al., 2011).

In 2012 *de novo* mutations of Na,K-ATPase α 3 were identified in the patients with alternating hemiplagia of childhood (ACH) (Heinzen et al., 2012; Rosewich et al., 2012). ACH usually occurs in the age of six months and attack frequency ranges from several times a month to several times a day. Symptoms are characterized by transient episodes of hemiplagia, dystonia, nystagmus, autonomic disturbances, seizures, and severe intellectual disability and developmental delay.

Although in most of the cases the disease associated mutations of Na,K-ATPase $\alpha 2$ and $\alpha 3$ lead to severe impairment of the pump function, some of the mutated Na,K-ATPase still possess satisfactory ion transporting capacity. For example Phe785Leu and Thr618Met mutants of Na,K-ATPase $\alpha 3$ associated with RDP are functional but assign decreased affinity to Na⁺ (Rodacker et al., 2006). This demonstrate the essential role of Na,K-ATPase in the brain physiology since even

small disturbances of Na,K-ATPase function have a great consequences resulting in severe neurological symptoms.

1.6 G protein-coupled receptors

One of the largest and most diverse membrane protein families is the G proteincoupled receptors (GPCRs), which are encoded by more than 800 genes in the human genome (Fredriksson et al., 2003). GPCRs are activated by a wide spectrum of extracellular signals, including photons, ions, small organic molecules and entire proteins. GPCR malfunction is associated with many diseases, and it is estimated that more than 50% of pharmaceuticals target GPCRs (Lundstrom, 2009). The physiological function of a large fraction of GPCRs remains still unknown; these receptors are referred to as orphan GPCRs.



Fig 1.7 G protein-coupled receptor activation

GPCRs share a common structural characteristic of seven transmembrane domains, with an extracellular N-terminus and an intracellular C-terminus. After ligand binding, GPCRs undergo conformational changes, causing the activation of canonical signaling through G proteins. However, some GPCRs signal through a G protein independent, non-canonical, signaling pathway. G protein is a trimer of α , β , and γ subunits (known as G α , G β , and G γ), which is rendered to be in an inactive state when bound to GDP. When the GPCR is activated by a ligand it undergoes a conformational change which stimulates a replacement of GDP with GTP at the G α protein. In the GTP-bound state the G α -GTP subunit dissociates from G $\beta\gamma$ and is free to modulate activity of its target proteins. Hydrolysis of GTP to GDP allows reassociation of G α with G $\beta\gamma$ and return to the resting state (Fig 1.7).

There are different classes of G α proteins which have similar mechanism of activation but show differences in recognition and regulation of the effector. G α s directly stimulates adenylyl cyclase and thus induces cAMP production which activates protein kinase A (PKA). G α i opposites the G α s effect by inhibiting adenylyl cyclase. G α q/₁₁ stimulates phospholipase C (PLC) which cleaves PIP₂ into second messengers IP₃ and DAG, which in turn induce Ca²⁺ release *via* IP₃R and activate protein kinase C (PKC) respectively. G α _{12/13} regulates Rho GTPase signaling and control cytoskeleton remodeling and cell migration (Suzuki et al., 2009).

The G $\beta\gamma$ subunit has in some systems an active role as well. It has been shown to couple to and inhibit voltage gated Ca²⁺ channels (Zamponi and Currie, 2013), binds to and activate G protein gated potassium channels (Kurachi and Ishii, 2004), or activate PLC-epsilon (Wing et al., 2001).

GPCRs can also trigger a G protein independent signaling pathway through βarrestins. After binding of an agonist, the GPCR is phosphorylated and binds βarrestin protein. This is part of the desensitization process that is described in detail in next section. Beside desensitization and internalization of the GPCR, β-arrestins have been shown to scaffold signaling molecules to agonist activated GPCRs. βarrestins are able to scaffold members of c-Src tyrosine kinase family, Akt, PI3 kinase, players of MAPK signaling pathway including ERK1/2, p38,and JNK3 (Lefkowitz and Shenoy, 2005). In addition there is evidence that β-arrestins can also regulate nuclear processes such as transcription of new RNA. β-arrestin was identified as a binding partner of IkB. Beta-arrestin can sequester IkB –NFkB complex in the cytosol and thus attenuate NFkB-dependent transcription (DeWire et al., 2007).

1.6.1 Regulation of GPCR activity

GPCR activity is regulated through different mechanisms including interaction with regulatory proteins, desensitization, endocytosis, recycling, and trafficking.

Regulators of G protein signaling (RGS) proteins comprise a group of proteins that modulate GPCR signaling by acting as GTPase activating proteins (GAPs). RGS binds to the G α subunit and accelerate its GTPase activity and thus terminating the GPCR signaling after agonist stimulation. This action causes reduced amplitude and duration of the G protein mediated signaling. Up to date there have been described 20 RGS proteins that differ in their specificity towards G α isoforms and in their spatial and temporal expression. The potential importance of RGS, as GPCR regulators, in disease has driven effort to pharmaceutically target RGS protein function (Kach et al., 2012; Sjogren, 2011).

Activation of a GPCR by its ligand initiates the process of receptor desensitization, an adaptive response used by cells to arrest G protein signaling, therefore preventing the potentially harmful effects that can result from persistent receptor stimulation. Agonist activated GPCR is phosphorylated by G protein-activated serine/threonine kinases (GRKs). Phosphorylation promotes high affinity binding of the β -arrestin, which physically prevents further coupling of the receptor to the G protein. Beta -arrestins also scaffold enzymes, such as phosphodiesterases and diacylglycerol kinases, which degrade second messengers generated by G protein coupling, thus providing additional mechanisms for efficient dampening of signaling (Perry et al., 2002; Shenoy and Lefkowitz, 2011). Phosphorylation of GPCRs by several other kinases, such as PKA, PKC, and c-Src can result in receptor desensitization. This process of desensitization involves a feedback mechanism in which the second messenger generated by the agonist-stimulated GPCR activates a kinase that decreases the activity of the receptor and ultimately attenuates production of the second messenger (Kohout and Lefkowitz, 2003).

Beta -arrestins bind several molecules involved in the machinery for receptor sequestration, including AP-2, clathrin, and N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive fusion protein. Thus, β -arresting serve as adaptor molecules that target the GPCR to clathrin-coated pits followed by their internalization. GPCRs exhibit different patterns of agonist-induced β -arrestin interaction, which allow the receptors to be grouped into two distinct classes. Class A receptors (including the $\beta 2$ and $\alpha 1B$ adrenergic, μ opioid, endothelin A and dopamine D1A receptors) bind to β -arrestin 2 with higher affinity than to β -arrestin 1. They transiently recruit β -arrestin, traffic with it to clathrin-coated pits and then dissociate. Class A receptors then internalize without β -arrestin and are generally rapidly recycled. Class B receptors, represented by the angiotensin AT1a, neurotensin 1, vasopressin 2, thyrotropin-releasing hormone or neurokinin NK-1 receptors, bind to β -arrestin 1 and β -arrestin 2 with equal affinity. These receptors form stable complexes with β -arrestin, such that the receptor- β -arrestin complex internalizes as a unit that is targeted to endosomes (Reiter and Lefkowitz, 2006). Resensitization of the GPCR requires its dephosphorylation and dissociation from its ligand. Several lines of evidence support the hypothesis that receptor internalization is required for resensitization of many GPCRs (Luttrell and Lefkowitz, 2002).

1.6.2 Angiotensin receptors

Angiotensin II (AngII) is an octapeptide hormone which is an important part of the rennin-angiotensin system (RAS), the major regulator of blood pressure, electrolyte balance and renal, neuronal as well as endocrine functions related to cardiovascular control. AngII actions are mediated through binding to AngII receptors. There exist two AngII receptor subtypes, angiotensin II type 1 receptor (AT1R) and type 2 receptor (AT2R). Although both receptors have similar affinity to AngII and belong to the same family of GPCRs, their function and AngII triggered signaling is different.

The AT1R is the most elucidated of angiotensin receptors and mediates the majority of all known physiological actions of AngII. Human genome contains a unique gene coding AT1R. In contrast, there are two isoforms of the AT1R in rodents, $AT1_A$ and $AT1_B$ receptors.

AT1R is one of the most promiscuous receptors of the GPCR family that activates large number of G protein dependent and independent signaling pathways. Several signaling pathways triggered by AngII through AT1R have been described. The most studied is the signaling through coupling to the Gaq_{/11} protein activating Ca²⁺ signaling and PKC mediated pathway. The effects of Gaq_{/11} protein mediated AT1R signaling varies in different tissues, including vasoconstriction, aldosterone release, renal Na⁺ reabsorption, adrenergic facilitation, vascular smooth muscle cells hypertrophy, and cardiac myocyte hyperplasia. *Via* coupling to Ga_{11/12}, AT1R activates PLC, phospholipase D, L-type Ca²⁺ channels, and Rho kinase (Hunyady and Catt, 2006). AT1R also couples to Gai/o protein that inhibits adenylyl cyclase in some tissues, and in adrenocortical cells contributes to the regulation of voltage gated T- and L- type Ca²⁺ channels (Lu et al., 1996). AT1R was also shown to couple to Ga_{12/13} which mediates AngII induced ROS production (Fujii et al., 2005).

AngII can also stimulate G protein-independent signaling pathways. Betaarrestins scaffold and mediate AngII induced activation of ERK and JNK3. AT1R was further shown to activate Cdc42, Src, Jak/STAT, and transactivate EGFR in G protein independent way (Hunyady and Catt, 2006).

AT1R signaling activity is modulated by formation of homo- and heterodimers. In COS7 cells, AT1R was demonstrated to form constitutive homooligomers (Hunyady et al., 2002). AT1R dimerization appears to promote AT1R signaling and desensitization (AbdAlla et al., 2004). Heterodimerization of AT1R with the B2 bradykinin receptor enhances AT1R signaling response (AbdAlla et al., 2000). AT1R interaction with β -adrenergic receptor leads to formation of molecular complex in which blockade of the AT1R can inhibit signaling of the β -adrenergic receptor and *vice versa*. Association of AT1R with AT2R on the other hand inhibits its signaling activity and function (Hunyady and Catt, 2006).

AT2R is an atypical GPCR. It was shown to couple with G α s in the absence of G $\beta\gamma$. AT2R has been shown to activate protein phosphatases such as MAPK phosphatase 1 (MKP-1) and SH2 domain-containing phosphatase 1 (SHP-1). AT2R further stimulates nitric oxide synthase and nitric oxide production, and increases cyclic guanosine monophosphate synthesis. AT2R signaling has been demonstrated to promote apoptosis, inhibit AT1R mediated cell proliferation, lower blood pressure, and inhibits proinflamatory events (Berk, 2003).

1.6.3 Dopamine receptors

Dopamine is an important endogenous catecholamine which exerts widespread effects both in neuronal (as a neurotransmitter) and non-neuronal tissues (as an autocrine or paracrine agent). Within the central nervous system, dopamine binds to specific membrane receptors presented by neurons and it plays the key role in the control of locomotion, learning, working memory, cognition, and emotion (Beaulieu and Gainetdinov, 2011). Outside the central nervous system, dopamine receptors have been described in kidney, liver, heart (Dearry et al., 1990), or pancreas (Rubi et al., 2005). Renal dopamine is now recognized as an important regulator of Na⁺ metabolism and electrolyte balance (Aperia, 2000).

Dopamine receptors, members of the GPCR family, are based on their structure and pharmacology divided into two subtypes, D1- like and D2-like receptors. D1-like receptors are further classified into D1 and D5, D1_A and D1_B in rodents, respectively. These are linked to the G α s, which stimulates the activity of adenylyl cyclase and increase production of cAMP, which in turn activates PKA. By activating PKA, D1R can induce many important effects such as phosphorylation of dopamine and cAMPregulated phosphoprotein of 32 kD (DARPP-32), which is a potent inhibitor of protein phosphatase-1 (Svenningsson et al., 2004). D1 receptors in addition couple to G α q and activate phopholipase C and generate intracellular Ca²⁺ release (Beaulieu and Gainetdinov, 2011). In striatum, D1R has been shown to couple to the G α olf, which also stimulates adenylyl cyclase (Corvol et al., 2001).

D2-like receptors are subdivided into D2, D3, and D4 receptors, and are typically coupled to G α i/G α o that inhibits adenylyl cyclase activity. D1 and D2 receptors were shown to form heterooligomers coupled to G α q, which on activation of both receptors activate phopholipase C and generate intracellular Ca²⁺ release (Beaulieu and Gainetdinov, 2011).

1.7 Dopamine and angiotensin control of natriuresis

Renal Na⁺ metabolism, a major determinant of blood pressure, is regulated with great precision by an interaction between anti-natriuretic and natriuretic factors. Counter-regulatory dopaminergic and rennin-angiotensin systems belong to the key regulators of renal Na⁺ balance. AngII is a potent regulator of Na⁺, HCO₃⁻, and water reabsorption in proximal tubule. AngII controls proximal tubular transport mainly through regulation of Na⁺, H⁺ exchanger (Banday and Lokhandwala, 2011), Na,K-ATPase (Aperia et al., 1994), and Na⁺,HCO₃⁻ cotransporter (Geibel et al., 1990). AngII exerts biphasic effect on the Na⁺ reabsorption that is partly mediated *via* regulation of Na,K-ATPase activity. In low pico- to nanomolar concentrations AngII stimulates, whereas in micromolar concentrations inhibits the activity of Na,K-ATPase (Aperia et al., 1994). The mechanism behind the biphasic effect of AngII on

Na,K-ATPase activity is unclear; however the stimulatory effect is traditionally attributed to the activation of PKC, and/or the decrease of the intracellular cAMP level (Bharatula et al., 1998; Efendiev and Pedemonte, 2006).

Dopamine opposes the antinatriuretic effects of AngII. Dopamine regulates the activity of various Na⁺ transporters, including Na,K-ATPase and Na⁺, H⁺ exchanger, and promotes natriuresis. Dopamine is produced in renal tubular cells. The natriuretic effects of dopamine are mediated mainly through D1-like receptors. The downstream signaling includes production of cAMP, activation of PKA, and phosphorylation of cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein DARPP32, a potent inhibitor of PP1A. Dopamine activation of PLC and PKC was also demonstrated in renal proximal tubules. PKA and PKC phosphorylate Na,K-ATPase and modulate its activity. The effect of PKA and PKC on Na,K-ATPase activity is highly dependent on the intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations (Cheng et al., 1999).

The dopamine and angiotensin systems are closely connected. Dopamine inhibits AngII induced Na⁺ retention, while AngII decreases dopamine uptake in kidney (Choi et al., 2006). Long-term dopamine exposure is known to decrease AT₁ receptors (AT1R) in renal proximal tubular cells (Cheng et al., 1996). Furthermore, studies by (Zeng et al., 2005) have shown that long-term stimulation of AT1R results in an upregulation of D1-like receptors (D1R). AT1R and D1R have been shown to form heterodimers and decrease the expression of each other after long term stimulation of either of them with agonist (Zeng et al., 2003).
2 SPECIFIC AIMS

This thesis examined a role of protein-protein interaction on the function of the canonical and non-canonical signaling pathways that trigger IP_3R mediated Ca^{2+} signaling. The specific aims of this thesis were:

- To explore the role of AT1R/D1R heterodimerization on the short-term regulation of AT1R and D1R G protein-coupled signaling
- To investigate the role of cytoskeleton associated protein, ankyrin B, in ouabain-triggered Ca²⁺ signaling through Na,K-ATPase/IP₃R signaling complex.
- To study the role of 20 kD C-terminal fragment of agrin as a potential activator of Na,K-ATPase signaling.

3 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 RNA interference

In 2006 Andrew Fire and Craig C Mello were awarded with the Nobel Prize in Physiology and Medicine for describing a novel regulation of gene expression in *C.elegans*, called RNA interference (RNAi). Since this phenomenon was described in 1998, the use of small RNAs became a powerful and widely used method for down-regulation of gene expression. There are two main types of the RNA molecules that can mediate gene silencing, micro RNA (miRNA) and small interfering RNA (siRNA). The miRNA and siRNA differ in the mechanism of gene expression regulation. While miRNA binds to the target mRNA and inhibits its translation, siRNA recognition of target mRNA leads to mRNA degradation. In this thesis siRNA technique has been used for silencing of the ankyrin B gene in COS7 cells.

Small interfering RNA is a short double stranded RNA. It originates from the double stranded RNA (dsRNA) that is recognized by the ribonucleotide protein Dicer which binds and cleaves dsRNA into 20-25 nucleotide fragments of double stranded siRNA. siRNA is recognized by and incorporated in a protein complex RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). siRNA serves as a guide for RISC to identify the sequence of the target mRNA. Upon perfect base-pair match, RISC, which contains endonucelases, cleaves the target mRNA in the middle of the duplex formed with the siRNA.



Fig 3.1 Mechanism of RNA interference

siRNA can be used for down-regulation of gene expression both in vivo and in vitro. siRNA can be introduced to the cells either directly in the form of double stranded siRNA or as a plasmid DNA that encodes double stranded hairpin RNA (shRNA), which can be recognized and cleaved by DICER. In our study we choose to use siRNA that was transfected to the COS7 cells. The advantages of siRNA in this system are a higher transfection efficacy and better control over the siRNA concentration. Although siRNA is considered to be highly specific, a variety of controls need to be followed. In 2003, Nature Cell Biology published a list of recommended controls for RNAi experiments (2003). In our work we followed three out of five suggested controls. Both mismatch and scrambled control siRNAs were used. The mismatch and target siRNA sequences differed in three nucleotides. Besides that, siRNA targeting rat ankyrin B, but not monkey ankyrin B, was used as a scrambled siRNA control. We examined the ankyrin B expression both on protein and mRNA level. This control ensured that the ankyrin B downregulation occurs via degradation of mRNA and not through inhibition of protein translation. As siRNA can be often effective already at minimal concentrations, titration of the siRNA is recommended to reduce the chance of unspecific effects. We tested the minimal concentration of siRNA that would give the maximal effect of the ankyrin B downregulation. Further it is recommended to use functional "rescue" control by expression of the target gene in a form refractory to siRNA. In ideal situation the expression of the rescue gene should be in a physiological range. To enhance a confidence in RNAi data a similar effect of two or more siRNAs can be demonstrated.

3.2 Ca^{2+} imaging

The development of the fluorescent Ca^{2+} indicator dyes has to a great extent contributed to our understanding of the importance and mechanisms of Ca^{2+} signaling in the cell. Ca^{2+} indicators change their spectral properties when bound to free Ca^{2+} . There exists a number of Ca^{2+} specific dyes and genetically encoded Ca^{2+} indicators that differ in their excitation and emission spectra, Ca^{2+} sensitivity, kinetics of Ca^{2+} binding, as well as subcellular localization (e.g. cytosolic, mitochondrial, nuclear).

The carboxylic acid of the Ca^{2+} specific dyes can be modified with acetoxymethyl (AM) ester group that enables the dye to permeate the cell plasma membrane. Once inside the cell, the lipophilic groups are cleaved off by non-specific esterases, resulting in a charged molecule that is less prone to leak out of the cell. The AM modified dyes enable easy and non-destructive cell loading, providing sufficient intracellular dye concentrations to measure the changes of cytosolic Ca^{2+} in a time course up to several hours. When imaging changes in intracellular Ca^{2+} , several considerations must be taken. The Ca^{2+} sensitivity of the dye must be high enough to detect Ca^{2+} changes and low enough to avoid saturation. Since Ca^{2+} dyes

function as Ca^{2+} buffers, the concentration of the dye should be optimized to not buffer all free Ca^{2+} . The frequency of the image acquisition should be high enough to record all the Ca^{2+} changes but at the same time it should be as low as possible to reduce phototoxicity.

In this thesis fura-2 AM and fluo-4 AM Ca²⁺ dyes were used to record cytosolic Ca²⁺ changes. Fura-2 AM is a ratiometric dye that requires UV light excitation. In the Ca^{2+} bound state it is excited at the wavelength of 340 nm and in the Ca^{2+} unbound state at the wavelength of 380 nm. The emission wavelength maximum is at 510 nm. The ratiometric properties make fura-2 measurements less sensitive to focus shifts and bleaching than single-excitation dyes. The UV excitation spectrum enables the combination of fura-2 with a variety of other dyes or fluorescent proteins which are excited with visual light. On the other hand, high levels of UV light are cytotoxic and therefore using other Ca²⁺ sensitive dye with visual light excitation spectrum should be considered when more sensitive cells are imaged or when cells are exposed to high levels of UV light for long periods of time. Fura-2 AM was used to monitor ouabain and AngII-induced Ca²⁺ signaling in COS7 cells and primary cultures of renal proximal tubules. In both models the sensitivity of fura-2 was adequate to the Ca^{2+} response. Since primary hippocampal neurons display high frequency spontaneous Ca^{2+} activity, requiring high acquisition rate, we used fluo-4 AM instead of fura-2 to avoid exposure of the neurons to UV light. Fluo-4 excitation maximum is at the wavelength of 488 nm and the emission maximum is at the wavelength of 510 nm. Line scanning confocal microscopy, which enables high speed image acquisition, was used to image fluo-4 in neurons. The primary neuronal culture contains a heterogeneous cell population consisting of neuronal and non-neuronal cells. To functionally distinguish between neuronal and non-neuronal cells, the ability of the neuronal cells to respond to treatment with NMDA with elevated Ca^{2+} level was examined in the end of each experiment.

3.3 Ca²⁺ data analysis

 Ca^{2+} signaling can be very complex, encoded both in amplitude and frequency and Ca^{2+} oscillations can be formed by a sum of individual frequency components. Power spectrum analysis is used to extract these individual frequency components. Spectral analysis based on the Fourier transform was used to analyze Ca^{2+} oscillations triggered by ouabain and agrin in COS7 cells. The Ca^{2+} oscillations observed in neurons consisted of two frequency components superimposed on each other. Since the difference between the slow and fast frequency component was big, the moving average filter was applied on the data to isolate the slow frequency component. The high frequency component was then isolated by subtracting the slow component from the raw data. The slow frequency component was then analyzed using spectral analysis.

3.4 Na,K-ATPase activity assays

The activity of the Na,K-ATPase can be assessed using variety of methods. The most common assays, which were used in this thesis, are measurement of the rubidium uptake and the ATP hydrolysis measurement.

In rubidium uptake assay the amount of radioactive isotope ⁸⁶Rb⁺, which refers to the amount of K⁺, taken up by the cells is measured. The ouabain sensitive Rb⁺ uptake is measured in order to isolate Rb⁺ uptake mediated by Na,K-ATPase from the Rb⁺ uptake mediated by other ion channels. The great advantages of this assay are its sensitivity and the fact that it is performed on intact cells. The obvious drawback of this method is use of radioactive isotope that is source of both β and γ radiation. This can be bypassed by detection of non- radioactive Rb⁺ uptake using flame photometry. However the sensitivity of the method would be significantly decreased in this case. Another limitation of this method is that it assesses the bulk activity of the Na,K-ATPase, giving no information about the differences between individual cells. Therefore it is impossible to determine the Na,K-ATPase activity in specific cell type in the heterogenic cell population using this method.

The measurement of the ATP hydrolysis is the most commonly used method to determine Na,K-ATPase activity. The production of inorganic phosphate Pi from ATP is measured in the permeabilized cells or on membrane preparations. To distinguish between ATPase activity of Na,K-ATPase and another ATPases, ouabain is used. This approach is optimal to measure the kinetic properties of the Na,K-ATPase in different conditions, such as different ion concentrations. The drawback of this method is that it does not measure ATP hydrolysis in intact cells and that it does not distinguish between the ATPase activity of the plasma membrane and the intracellular Na,K-ATPase. The concentration of inorganic phosphate (Pi) as a product of ATP hydrolysis is measured to quantify the ATPase activity. Pi can be either detected with colorimetric reaction and quantified using spectrophotometer, as we did in our study, or concentration of radioactive [³²P], as a product of [³²P]-ATP hydrolysis, can be measured with liquid scintillation counter.

Another method that can be used to indicate the changes of Na,K-ATPase activity is the measurement of intracellular Na⁺ using Na⁺- sensitive fluorescent dyes. This method was not used in this thesis; however it is discussed in the third study. Since the Na,K-ATPase is the main determinant of the intracellular Na⁺ level, the changes of its activity can be reflected in the changes of the basal intracellular Na⁺. This method enables monitoring of the intracellular Na⁺ level on the single cell, or even subcellular level. This is very beneficial when highly differentiated cells, such as neurons, are studied. The activity of Na,K-ATPase is however assessed indirectly since there are many other factors that influence the changes of intracellular Na⁺ level.

3.5 Identification of the protein-protein interaction

In studies presented in this thesis, the protein-protein interaction plays an essential role in the regulation of function of both Na,K-ATPase and angiotensin

receptor. There exists a big variety of biochemical, imaging, and biophysical methods that help to identify proteins forming a protein complex. In this thesis a combination co-immunoprecipitation and GST (glutathione S-transferase) pull down assay was used to identify the interacting proteins and to describe their binding regions.

Co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) belongs to the golden standard assay for the study of the protein-protein interaction. It is considered to be very specific method, especially when endogenous proteins (not overexpressed) are studied. One of the limitations of this method is the availability of specific antibodies. Not all antibodies that show high specificity in other immuno-assays are suitable for co-IP. Moreover some of the antibodies might interfere with the protein binding site. The co-IP assay can be used only to verify a predicted interaction between two proteins. In order to screen for new protein partners, co-IP can be combined with mass-spectrometry. Some of the protein-protein interactions are transient or weak and can be disrupted during the co-IP protocol. The protein-protein interaction can be stabilized by chemical cross-linking that introduces the covalent bindings between two proteins in close proximity. Co-IP gives information about the composition of the protein direct interaction. The binding of proteins that co-immunoprecipitate together might be mediated by another intermediate protein, and thus co-IP assay can't confirm whether two proteins interact directly.

GST pull down assay uses the affinity between glutathione S-transferase (GST) and glutathione. The most common application for GST pull down is to map the protein regions that are responsible for protein-protein interaction. GST-fused protein fragments are produced in bacteria and purified using glutathione covered beads. These beads with bound GST-proteins can be incubated with cell or tissue lysate containing protein of interest. In this case GST pull down does not give information whether the GST-protein and protein from the lysate interact directly. To address this question, GST-pull down assay can be modified to so called *in vitro* binding assay to examine the binding between purified GST-protein fragment and purified protein of interest, or purified protein fragments. GST-pull down assay is useful for the screening of the binding regions; however the 3D structure of the protein is often important for the effective binding, often several protein regions that do not directly adjoin form a binding pocket. This must be considered when the results from the GST-pull down are interpreted to avoid false-negative or false-positive conclusions.

In both assays the use of proper controls assures specificity of the obtained results. In co-IP assay the unspecific IgG of the same species origin and the same isotype as a specific antibody against the protein of interest is used. In GST-pull down, beads covered with GST protein are used as a control. The use of the GST-protein fragment with the mutated binding site gives higher confidence that the observed binding is specific.

3.6 NF-KB activation

The downstream effect of the ouabain-induced slow Ca^{2+} oscillations is activation of NF- κ B transcription factor. There exist several assays monitoring NF- κ B activity. In present thesis we used immunocytochemistry to detect the translocation of NF- κ B to the nucleus and ELISA assay detecting NF- κ B binding to its target DNA sequence. We used the immunocytochemistry labeling of p65 subunit of NF- κ B for qualitative monitoring of p65 subcellular localization. Measurement of intensity ratio between cytoplasm and nucleus can be used for data quantification. In this thesis we used ELISA assay to quantify the p65 activity in control and ankyrin B knock-down cells. The nuclear extracts were incubated with the oligonucleotides containing p65 consensus sequence immobilized to the 96-well plate. The bound p65 was detected using horse radish conjugated antibodies and chemiluminescence. Since we have used homogenous COS7 cell population, the quantification of NF- κ B activity using ELISA assay, provided very sensitive and reproducible way to measure ouabain-induced NF- κ B activity.

3.7 cAMP production assay

cAMP is a second messenger produced from ATP by adenylyl cyclase. The cAMP production measurement is used to monitor the signaling activity of $G\alpha$ s and $G\alpha$ i coupled GPCRs. In our study, cAMP production was measured to determine the signaling capacity of D1R. We used an ELISA based commercial available assay which enables detection of cAMP synthesis in cells as well as tissue. During the treatment of the cells it is possible to include IBMX, phosphodiesterase inhibitor, to avoid degradation of the cAMP. The cells are lysed in 0.1 HCl which itself inhibits phosphodiesterase activity. This assay is sensitive; however it measures only cumulative production of the cAMP. The information about the cAMP production dynamics would be rather difficult to obtain using this method.

Recently, fluorescent protein indicators of cAMP have been developed enabling real time cAMP detection in the living cells. This approach is particularly interesting when combined with indicators of other second messengers, such as Ca^{2+} , to study the cross-talk between different signaling pathways.

3.8 Transfection and over-expression of the proteins

To study the changes of signaling and pumping function of the Na,K-ATPase α 3 and of the ouabain insensitive mutant of Na,K-ATPase α 1, we used transient transfection and over-expression of exogenous Na,K-ATPase in COS7 cells. The over-expression system is considered to be artificial, since the expression level of the exogenous protein is several times higher than the expression of endogenous protein. This can affect the protein distribution and function. However the amount of the plasma membrane Na,K-ATPase is limited by the expression of its β subunit, which targets Na,K-ATPase to the plasma membrane. Competition between the overexpressed exogenous and endogenous α subunits for binding to the

 β subunit assures, that the Na,K-ATPase will be expressed in the plasma membrane in a physiological level.

To specifically inhibit the signaling function of Na,K-ATPase with minimal effect on its pumping function, the overexpression of dominant negative peptide to disrupt Na,K-ATPase/IP₃R interaction was used. This strategy was used previously (Zhang et al., 2006), however in this work we improved the design of the dominant negative peptide to make it more specific. We used the whole length N-terminus of Na,K-ATPase and we fused it to the transmembrane domain of syntaxin. This ensured that this N-terminus of Na,K-ATPase is localized in the plasma membrane and mimics the endogenous protein localization. The overexpression of the fluorescent proteins usually results in overloading of the cellular expression system that yields a large amount of the exogenous protein in the intracellular compartments. That makes it difficult to distinguish between the plasma membrane and intracellular fluorescent signal in flat cells, such as COS7 cells. Therefore we attached pHluorin fluorescent protein to the extracellular tail of syntaxin. pHluorin fluorescence is eclipsed in a low pH, and therefore it is invisible in the intracellular compartments. On the other hand the pHluorin facing the extracellular space is fluorescent and thus the plasma membrane localization of pHluorin fused protein is easy to monitor.



Fig 3.2 Competition between syntaxin fused N-Terminus of Na,K-ATPase α 1 and endogenous Na,K-ATPase α 1for binding to the IP₃R

3.9 Fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP)

FRAP is an imaging method that measures the mobility of fluorescently labeled proteins. It is widely used to measure the lateral diffusion of proteins in the plasma membrane. In principle the fluorescent signal in the defined region of the plasma membrane is bleached with a high power laser beam and the fluorescence recovery is monitored over time. One of the parameter that characterize protein mobility is the

recovery half time, which represents the time of recovery of the fluorescence intensity to the 50% level of the intensity before bleaching. FRAP can also determine the mobile pool of the diffusing protein, which represents the percentage of the maximal fluorescence recovery compared to fluorescence intensity before bleaching. The mobile pool of the protein is dependent on the amount of fluorescent protein in the plasma membrane that is not anchored and can enter the bleached area by lateral diffusion. In this thesis FRAP was used to examine if down-regulation of ankyrin B effects the size of the Na,K-ATPase mobile pool in the plasma membrane. We transiently transfected COS7 cells with GFP-fused Na,K-ATPase α 1. However, since the overexpressed fluorescent protein filled the intracellular compartments it was difficult to differentiate between plasma membrane and intracellular fluorescent signal. To bypass this problem, we detached the cells from the culture plate surface in order to reach the spherical shape of the cell. This improved the ratio between the fluorescent signal in plasma membrane and cytoplasm.

3.10 Cell surface biotinylation

Internalization and trafficking is one of the mechanisms of the regulation of the plasma membrane receptor function. Biotinylation of the cell surface can be used to monitor the amount of the protein in the plasma membrane. Biotin can be covalently conjugated to the proteins of the cell surface of non-permeabilized cells. The biotin labeled proteins can be purified using streptavidin, which has high affinity to biotin. The bond between biotin and proteins is resistant to heat, pH, and proteolysis which enables to capture of biotinylated molecules in a wide variety of environments (Hermanson et al., 1994). Cell surface biotinylation will only provide information about the amount of the protein in the plasma membrane in the whole population of the cells. When there is question about changes of protein content in specialized plasma membrane compartments, another approach must be taken. In this thesis cell surface biotinylation was used to examine if ankyrin B downregulation affects the amount of plasma membrane Na,K-ATPase and to study the effects of AT1R and D1R activation on their internalization.

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Reciprocal interaction between AT1R andD1R

4.1.1 Results and comments

Angiotensin and dopamine represents counterregulatory system controlling blood pressure. AT1R and D1R have been shown to form a heterodimer in immortalized proximal tubule cells. Effects of chronic activation of D1R on the AT1R expression have been described previously (Zeng et al., 2005). However, since the Na⁺ excretion must be regulated over a short time frame, we examined in this study the role of AT1R-D1R heterodimerization in the short-term regulation of AT1R and D1R function.

Co-immunoprecipitation study showed that the D1R and AT1R form a protein complex in the outer layer of the kidney cortex that is mainly composed of proximal tubules. GST fused C-terminal region of the D1R containing S417-T446, pulled down AT1R from the renal cortical lysate. Substitution of serines S397 and S398 with alanines significantly reduced the binding of AT1R.

To test whether the activation of either of the receptors affects AT1R-D1R interaction, outer renal cortical slices were treated for 15 min either with AngII or SKF 81297, an agonist of D1R. Co-immunoprecipitation assay demonstrated that exposure to either AT1R or D1R agonist resulted in a reduction of AT1R-D1R interaction. Unlike in the previous study by Zheng et al. (2003), the total amount of the AT1R and D1R protein was not affected. Short term exposure to AT1R or D1R agonists led to the changes in the subcellular distribution of the receptors. AngII treatment led to D1R internalization and exposure to the SKF 81297 resulted in the AT1R internalization.

Next we examined the functional significance of AT1R-D1R interaction. AT1R is typically coupled to G α q. Activation of the AT1R induces PLC activity, production of IP₃ and DAG, and activation of the IP₃R, which results in Ca²⁺ release from ER in a form of a Ca²⁺ transient. Activation of the D1R with SKF 81297 rapidly and reversibly disabled AT1R capacity to induce Ca²⁺ signaling in proximal tubule cells. The signaling capacity of the D1R was determined by measurement of cAMP production, as D1R couples to the G α s which activates adenylyl cyclase. Pretreatment of renal cortical slices with AngII on the other hand abolished SKF 81297 induced cAMP production.

The dopamine D1-like receptor family includes D1 and D5 receptors. It is not possible to distinguish between these two receptors using pharmacological approaches. Both D1R and D5R are present in proximal tubules and the function of

both receptors is implied in the blood pressure control. The lack of D5R leads to an increase of the blood pressure (Asico et al., 2011). Activation of D5R promotes AT1R degradation (Gildea et al., 2008; Li et al., 2008). In present study we have shown that the C-terminus of D1R interacts with AT1R. We however did not examine whether D5R is able to interact with AT1R as well. In the follow up study, Li et al. (2012) demonstrated that the signaling function and plasma membrane distribution of D1R, co-transfected into the HEK293 cells with AT1R, is affected by losartan, the AT1R specific inhibitor. This supports the notion that the effects observed in our study were mediated by D1R. However, the contribution of the D5R signaling on the regulation of the AT1R can't be excluded.

Mechanism underlying the heterologous desensitization of the AT1R and D1R remains elusive. The initial rapid and reversible desensitization of AT1R is unlikely to be explained by the receptor internalization. Classical mechanism of the GPCR desensitization is mediated through phosphorylation of activated receptor by GRKs, binding to the β -arrestin proteins that physically prevent coupling of the receptor to the G protein, and subsequent receptor internalization. The time course of the AT1R desensitization is very rapid (in a range of minutes) and would correspond to the time scale observed in the AT1R-D1R heterologous desensitization. AT1R belongs to the group B of GPCRs that is characterized by stable coupling of activated receptor to the β -arrestin, leading to internalization and degradation rather than recycling back to the plasma membrane (Reiter and Lefkowitz, 2006; Shenoy and Lefkowitz, 2011). We have observed that the SKF 81297 treatment completely abolished AngII induced Ca²⁺ signaling which was recovered as soon as the SKF was washed out. The kinetics of the AT1R signaling recovery after complete desensitization by D1R activation is much faster than the recovery after AngII induced desensitization (partial recovery of AngII induced Ca^{2+} signaling in rat primary proximal tubule cells was observed after 30 min, unpublished observation). Therefore it is not likely that the mechanism behind AT1R homologous and heterologous desensitization is the same.

A number of protein kinases that phosphorylate and desensitize dopamine D1 receptor, including PKC (Rankin and Sibley, 2010), GRK4, PKA, ERK1/2, has been described (Xu et al., 2013). It is now well documented that GRK4 is responsible for the renal D1R phosphorylation and desensitization. Polymorphisms in GRK4 gene that lead to increased GRK4 expression are associated with hypertension. AngII treatment has been shown to induce c-myc dependent increase of GRK4 expression (Gildea et al., 2013). The role of GRK4 in the short-term regulation of D1R function by AngII is however elusive.

The homologous and heterologous desensitization might be mediated by a different set of protein kinases acting on different phosphorylation sites. It is of interest that the serines 397 and 398 on the D1R C-terminus, which we demonstrated to be of importance for interaction between D1R and AT1R, are PKC phosphorylation sites that contribute to D1R desensitization (Rankin and Sibley,

2010). Since AT1R activation induces PKC activity, we can't exclude that the phosphorylation of D1R at PKC sites contributes to AngII induced D1R desensitization. D1R has been shown to be constitutively phosphorylated (Rankin et al., 2006). It has been demonstrated that D1R is hyperphosphorylated in proximal tubules of hypertensive rats (Yu et al., 2006). Thus we can speculate that nonphosphorylated D1R binds inactive AT1R. AT1R activation might induce a signaling cascade that leads to D1R phosphorylation, resulting in a potential uncoupling of D1R from its signaling pathway, and its internalization. The role of the phosphorylation in AngII-induced D1R desensitization needs to be examined.

GPCRs are natural allosteric proteins because agonist mediated signaling requires a conformational change that is transmitted between two topographically distinct binding sites, one for the agonist and another for the G protein. There has been recently described a number of allosteric modulators that alter binding and signaling properties of GPCRs. Study by Li and co-workers (2012) suggests that the binding of AT1R has allosteric effect on D1R signaling. Losartan, a highly specific agonist of AT1R, increased the AT1R/D1R binding, induced recruitment of D1R into the plasma membrane and most importantly induced D1R dependent cAMP production in the absence of D1R agonist. Losartan was however not able to transactivate D1R mutated at S397 and S398. Interestingly, losartan was able to induce maximal D1R activity, as co-treatment with SKF did not exert any additive effect on cAMP production. These findings support the hypothesis that the mechanism of the reciprocal regulation between AT1R and D1R is dependent on the conformational changes induced by binding of the receptor agonist and/or antagonist.

4.1.2 Future perspectives

The interaction between AT1R and D1R seems to be critical for the reciprocal regulation between the receptors. It is however not clear whether the regulation is purely mediated by conformational changes after agonist binding or the activation of the signaling of one of the receptor is required to inhibit the signaling function of the other one.

AT1R blockers are nowadays effectively used to treat patients with hypertension. AT1R signaling *via* β -arrestin has been associated with cellular effects such as protection from apoptosis, cell proliferation and migration (Violin and Lefkowitz, 2007). Angiotensin induced β -arrestin signaling promotes cell survival during acute cardiac injury (Kim et al., 2012). Therefore there is a big effort to develop biased ligands of AT1R, which activates β -arrestin mediated signaling and uncouple AT1R from G protein-coupled signaling, combining the properties of AT1R blockers with the beneficial β -arrestin signaling. The activation of D1R leads to the uncoupling of AT1R from the G protein coupled signaling pathway. It would be of interest to examine whether the β -arrestin signaling pathway remains intact.

Li et al. (2012) showed that antihypertensive effect of losartan is attenuated when administered together with D1R antagonist. These results demonstrate the functional importance of the allosteric interaction between AT1R and D1R *in vivo*

and imply that attempts should be made to develop a low-dose combination therapy of AT1R antagonists and D1R agonists in the treatment of hypertension.

4.2 The role of ankyrin B in the Na,K-ATPase/IP3R signaling

4.2.1 Results and comments

In this study we have shown that ankyrin B forms complex with Na,K-ATPase and IP₃R in COS7 cells. We have described new ankyrin B binding regions for both Na,K-ATPase and IP₃R. Second and third cytoplasmic domains of Na,K-ATPase have been previously reported to bind ankyrin R and ankyrin G isoforms (Devarajan et al., 1994; Jordan et al., 1995). However the ankyrin B binding region have had not been described previously. Since the N-terminus of Na,K-ATPase binds directly to the IP₃R we choose to examine whether the same region binds also to the ankyrin B. We have found that the GST-fused N-terminus of Na,K-ATPase is able to pull down purified ankyrin B. Bourguignon and Jin (1995) reported a portion of C- terminus of the IP₃R to be an ankyrin binding site. However this motif is located close to the IP₃R ion channel pore and therefore it is unlikely to be available for protein interaction. We found that the N-terminus portion of IP₃R, consisting of the suppressor domain and IP₃ binding domain, directly interacts with purified ankyrin B. Our finding was later confirmed by Kline et al. (2008).

To study the role of ankyrin B in the Na,K-ATPase/IP₃R signaling, expression of ankyrin B was down-regulated using siRNA. The 80% reduction of ankyrin B protein expression, reached with siRNA, resulted in decrease of Na,K-ATPase/IP₃R interaction.

To test whether the reduced interaction between Na,K-ATPase and IP₃R will be reflected on the capacity of ouabain to activate IP₃R, the changes of the intracellular Ca²⁺ in response to ouabain were recorded in ankyrin B down-regulated COS7 cells. The number of ankyrin B silenced cells that responded to ouabain with Ca²⁺ oscillations was reduced and the remaining oscillations assigned lower mean frequency and regularity compare to control cells. The power spectrum analysis revealed that while Ca²⁺ oscillations in control cell were highly regular with one frequency, the Ca²⁺ oscillations in ankyrin B down-regulated cells consisted of several frequency components (Fig 4.1).

Although the ouabain-induced Ca^{2+} signaling in ankyrin B down-regulated cells was not completely abolished, there was virtually no detectable change in the NF- κ B activity in a response to ouabain treatment.



Fig 4.1 The ouabain-triggered Ca^{2+} signaling is deregulated in COS7 cells with down-regulated ankyrin B expression. Representative traces of ouabain (20 pM) induced Ca^{2+} oscillations and corresponding power spectral analysis in cells transfected with control or ankyrin B targeting siRNA

It is clear that ankyrin B plays an essential role in the formation of the functional ouabain/Na,K-ATPase/IP₃R signaling complex. The exact mechanism how ankyrin B exerts this function is elusive. Miyakawa-Naito et al. (2003) has shown that a portion of Na,K-ATPase and IP₃R constitutively interact even in the absence of ouabain. This interaction is however weak or transient since it does not result in IP₃R activation. Ouabain increases the formation of a complex between Na,K-ATPase and IP₃R (Miyakawa-Naito et al., 2003) and we have demonstrated that this increase is dependent on the presence of ankyrin B. Ankyrin B can thus provide a scaffolding function that stabilizes the ouabain-induced conformational changes of Na,K-ATPase and IP₃R and physically strengthen the binding between Na,K-ATPase and IP₃R.

Ankyrin B is cytoskeleton associated protein that has been shown to tether Na,K-ATPase and IP₃R into the specialized functional microdomains. In the lymphocytes it tethers IP₃R into the lipid rafts and thus promotes Ca^{2+} signaling (Singleton and Bourguignon, 2004). A pool of Na,K-ATPase has been shown to be located in the caveolae lipid rafts. Ankyrin B can thus tether and stabilize Na,K-

ATPase and IP_3R in caveolae and thus enables their interaction and promotes ouabain-induced signaling.

The work by Feldmann et al. (2011) suggests the role of NCX in the cardiotonic steroid-induced slow Ca^{2+} oscillations in the COS7 cells. Since ankyrin B has been reported to tether Na,K-ATPase, IP₃R, and NCX into the microdomain in the cardiomyocytes (Mohler et al., 2005), it can't be excluded that NCX forms a complex with Na,K-ATPase, IP₃R, and ankyrin B in COS7 cells. The potential loss of NCX from the close proximity of Na,K-ATPase and IP₃R in ankyrin B down-regulated cells may contribute to the dysregulation of the ouabain-induced Ca^{2+} signaling.

The pattern of the Ca^{2+} oscillations can be modulated by the interaction of IP_3R with other proteins. Therefore the binding of ankyrin B to the IP_3R might directly affect some of the IP_3R properties, such as Ca^{2+} affinity, and this way contribute to the typical pattern of the Ca^{2+} oscillatory signal induced by ouabain.

Ankyrin G is known to bind to the Na,K-ATPase, promote its basolateral distribution in polarized epithelial cells, and regulate its vesicular trafficking (Morrow et al., 1989; Stabach et al., 2008). We have not observed any implications of such a role of the ankyrin B in COS7 cells as we did not observe any changes in the plasma membrane distribution, no sign of increased internalization, or the changes in the pumping activity of the Na,K-ATPase in the ankyrin B down-regulated cells.

4.2.2 Future perspectives

Our group has shown that the IP₃R can be activated in the absence of IP₃ through the interaction with Na,K-ATPase and conformational changes induced by binding of ouabain. In a number of studies, ouabain has been shown to stimulate also tyrosine kinase activity. Recent study by Fontana et al. (2013) suggests the role of Src kinase in the ouabain-induced Ca²⁺ oscillations in COS7 cells. The application of the Src kinase inhibitor resulted in the failure of ouabain to trigger Ca²⁺ oscillations in COS7 cells. There is a time gap between application of ouabain and initiation of the Ca²⁺ oscillations. Activation of the Src kinase might be therefore an initial step in the ouabain-induced Ca²⁺ oscillations. Further studies need to be performed to elucidate the connection between Src activity and ouabain-induced Ca²⁺ oscillations.

Ouabain is an endogenous hormone that is produced in adrenal glands (Laredo et al., 1994). The circulating concentrations of the endogenous ouabain are in the pico- to nanomolar range (Dvela et al., 2012; Vakkuri et al., 2001). At these concentrations, ouabain would have minimal effect on the Na,K-ATPase pumping function. This leads to the hypothesis that the main physiological function of ouabain is the activation of the Na,K-ATPase signaling. Significantly higher levels of the endogenous ouabain have been observed in many patients with congestive heart failure, essential hypertension, renal failure and some cancers. The levels of endogenous ouabain are elevated in the conditions requiring extensive cell growth

and differentiation. Higher circulating levels of ouabain were identified in pregnancy (Vakkuri et al., 2000) and in newborns (Gooz et al., 2004). The tissue protective effects of ouabain-induced signaling in kidney have been described in several pathological conditions *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* (Li et.al, 2010, Burlaka et al., 2013). The role of Na,K-ATPase signaling in the physiological conditions remains elusive. Our group has demonstrated that ouabain protects cultured embryonic kidneys from serum starvation-induced apoptosis. Application of ouabain to the pregnant rat subjected to a low protein diet rescued the development of the embryonic kidneys. To dissect the importance of the physiological role of Na,K-ATPase signaling *in vivo* the animal model needs to be studied. The generation of the transgenic mouse expressing Na,K-ATPase α 1 with inserted mutation in the IP₃R binding motif is in the progress.

Although there have been many reports describing the signaling function of Na,K-ATPase, there are many open questions concerning the dual function of Na,K-ATPase. In 2007 Liang et al. described a pool of non-pumping Na,K-ATPase in LLC-PK1 cells. Authors showed that this non-pumping pool that is located in the caveolae possesses signaling function. Furthermore, by disruption of the caveolae structures it was possible to convert the signaling pool of Na,K-ATPase to pumping pool. This finding was opposed by (Liu et al., 2011), showing that the alveolar fraction of Na,K-ATPase keeps the pumping function. In any case, there are many indications that the interaction of Na,K-ATPase function.

4.3 The role of agrin in regulation of Na,K-ATPase function

4.3.1 Results and comments

In 2006 Hilgenberg et al. published a study describing the proteoglycan agrin as a new endogenous ligand of Na,K-ATPase α 3. Since cardiotonic steroids were to date the only known Na,K-ATPase ligands, this finding was rather sensational and attracted a lot of attention. Hilgenberg et al. showed that a 20 kD C-terminal fragment of agrin cross-linked specifically to the α 3 isoform of Na,K-ATPase and inhibited its ion transporting capacity. Many effects of agrin in neurons were described, including signaling events such as Ca²⁺ release from intracellular stores, cfoes activation, CREB activation. It seems unlikely that these effects can be explained simply by inhibition of Na,K-ATPase pumping function. Therefore we decided to test the possibility that agrin activates the signaling function of Na,K-ATPase α 3.

We established the collaboration with the group of Martin Smith and obtained expression plasmid and protocol to purify 20 kD agrin fragment (agrin C20) in bacteria. Our attempt to purify agrin C20 was not successful since the agrin C20 was

expressed in insoluble form in inclusion bodies. The following solubilization using urea and dialysis led to loss of the recombinant protein. Since we faced difficulties to purify agrin C20, we welcomed the offer of Martin Smith's group to supply us with solubilized agrin C20.

To study the capacity of agrin to trigger Na,K-ATPase signaling we chose the model of COS7 cells. These cells are, in our lab, a well established model to study ouabain-triggered signaling and were used to describe the mechanism of ouabain-triggered slow Ca^{2+} oscillations.

First we examined whether solubilized agrin C20 activates the signaling function of Na,K-ATPase α 3. COS7 cells were transfected with GFP-fused human Na,K-ATPase α 3 and exposed to solubilized agrin C20. Recordings of intracellular Ca²⁺ showed that solubilized agrin C20 triggered slow Ca²⁺ oscillations similar to ouabain-induced Ca²⁺ oscillations. Non-transfected COS7 cells, expressing only α 1 isoform of Na,K-ATPase, were used as a control. Unexpectedly, solubilized agrin C20-induced slow Ca²⁺ oscillations also in the untransfected COS7 cells. We have showed, using over-expression of Na,K-ATPase α 1 N-terminus, which serves as dominant negative peptide competing with endogenous Na,K-ATPase for binding to IP₃R (Zhang et al., 2006), that solubilized agrin C20-triggered Ca²⁺ signaling is mediated by Na,K-ATPase α 1. Furthermore, the Rb⁺ uptake assay showed that solubilized agrin C20 dose-dependently inhibits the pumping function of Na,K-ATPase α 1 in COS7 cells.

At this point we presented our findings to Martin Smith and Lutz Hilgenberg. They expressed doubts about the direct effect of solubilized agrin C20 on Na,K-ATPase α 1, as they were not able to cross-link agrin C20 with Na,K-ATPase α 1 in COS7 cells.

To study whether solubilized agrin C20 directly affects Na,K-ATPase α 1, we measured the ATPase activity of purified porcine Na,K-ATPase α 1 in the presence of solubilized agrin C20. We found that the solubilized agrin C20 inhibited ATPase activity of purified Na,K-ATPase α 1 to the same extent as 1 mM ouabain.

We attributed the differences in our and Hilgenberg's observations to the different species origin of the used cell models. The monkey and porcine Na,K-ATPase α l used in our study is ouabain sensitive, while rodent Na,K-ATPase α l used by Hilgenberg et al. is ouabain insensitive. This led us to the hypothesis that ouabain and agrin binding sites overlap. Indeed, solubilized agrin C20 was shown to compete with ouabain for binding to surface of COS7 cells. Furthermore, mutation of three amino acid residues important for ouabain binding, turned Na,K-ATPase α l agrin insensitive. We presented this solid evidence of effect of solubilized agrin C20 on the Na,K-ATPase α l to Martin Smith and Lutz Hilgenberg. As a response we received a news that Lutz Hilgenberg managed to cross-link agrin C20 to Na,K-ATPase α l in COS7 cells.

Since there are many reports on agrin function in hippocampal neurons (Karasewski and Ferreira, 2003; Matsumoto-Miyai et al., 2009; McCroskery et al.,

2009), we decided to test whether solubilized agrin C20 triggers similar signaling pathway in primary hippocampal neurons as it does in COS7 cells. The neurons were derived from E18 rat hippocampus and cultured for two weeks. At this time synaptic connections were established, as demonstrated by the presence of spontaneous synchronized intracellular Ca^{2+} oscillations. Exposure of the hippocampal neurons to solubilized agrin C20 resulted in a fundamental change in the characteristics of the Ca^{2+} signaling. Superimposed on the spontaneous high frequency Ca^{2+} signal was an additional low frequency Ca^{2+} oscillation (Fig 4.2).



Fig.4.2 Solubilized agrin C20 triggers slow Ca^{2+} oscillations in primary hippocampal neurons. Representative recording of the intracellular Ca^{2+} in primary rat hippocampal neurons using the fluo-4 Ca^{2+} sensitive dye.

After isolating the low and high frequencies using a moving average filter (Fig2b), the frequency of the slower oscillation was found to be 7 mHz, and the fast spontaneous frequency component 124 mHz. These slow oscillations were synchronized across the neuronal network.



Fig 4.3 Solubilized agrin C20 triggers slow Ca^{2+} oscillatory signal superimposed on fast frequency Ca^{2+} oscillations. (a) Representative trace of intracellular Ca^{2+} recording in the primary hippocampal neuron (black trace). The fast frequency (pink trace) and the slow frequency (blue trace) components were isolated by applying a moving average filter. (b) The frequency of the slow oscillation was 7 mHz (n=65 cells, 13 experiments). The remaining fast frequency component was continuous throughout the recording, suggesting that two Ca^{2+} signaling systems were simultaneously active. Graph demonstrates the frequencies of the fast and slow Ca^{2+} oscillations components for each single cell.

To study the origin of the solubilized agrin C20-induced Ca^{2+} oscillations in hippocampal neurons we applied a variety of inhibitors. 2-APB, inhibitor of IP₃R and store operated Ca^{2+} channels, abolished the solubilized agrin C20-induced slow Ca^{2+} oscillations. D-AP5, an inhibitor of NMDAR, also inhibited agrin C20-induced Ca^{2+} signaling (Fig 4.4). Beside these inhibitors, tetrodotoxin (TTX) that inhibits neuronal activity by blocking voltage-gated Na⁺ channel, abolished all Ca^{2+} activity in the hippocampal neurons (data not shown). These results indicate that the solubilized agrin C20-induced Ca^{2+} signaling is complex and is generated both by intracellular Ca^{2+} store release as well as by Ca^{2+} influx from extracellular space.



Fig 4.4 2-APB and D-AP5 inhibits agrin C20-induced Ca^{2+} oscillations in primary hippocampal neurons.

Hilgenberg et al. (2006) have shown that the 15 kD C-terminal agrin fragment competes with agrin C20 for binding to the Na,K-ATPase α 3, but does not inhibit its pumping function. Application of agrin C15 to the primary hippocampal neurons

resulted in a complete and reversible inhibition of the spontaneous Ca^{2+} activity (Fig 4.5). This finding was in line with the observation of Hilgenberg et al. (2006) that agrin C15 blocks the spontaneous action potentials in cortical neurons. These agrin C15 effects were interpreted as a competition with the endogenous agrin C20.



Fig 4.5 Agrin C15 inhibits spontaneous Ca^{2+} activity in primary rat hippocampal *neurons*. Representative recording of the intracellular Ca^{2+} in primary rat hippocampal neurons using the fluo-4 Ca^{2+} sensitive dye.

Since we did not use the full length agrin in our study, we were concerned about the physiological relevance of the effect of the C-terminal 20 kD agrin fragment. Therefore when in 2009 the group of Sonderegger reported that a 22 kD C-terminal fragment of agrin is endogenously produced on the synapse (Matsumoto-Miyai et al., 2009) we were anxious to test its effects. We obtained a purified human agrin C22 from the Swiss company Neurotune AB. Application of agrin C22 on COS7 cells however did not result in induction of Ca²⁺ signaling. We discussed this finding with our collaborators at Aarhus University in Denmark. The comparison of the crystal structure of the mouse agrin C22 resolved by Dr. Henning Tidow from Aarhus University in Denmark (unpublished data) with the published structure of the chicken agrin C20 (Stetefeld et al., 2004) did not reveal any major differences. We concluded that it is unlikely that the 2kD difference between agrin C20 and agrin C22 can be the reason for a loss of ability of agrin C22 to activate Na,K-ATPase signaling function.

This made us question if the solubilized agrin C20 might contain any contamination. SDS-PAGE followed by Coomassie Blue staining and Western blot analysis revealed presence of agrin C20 fragment and BSA as the two most abundant proteins in the solubilized agrin C20 sample. Non-protein fraction of the solubilized agrin C20, obtained by filtration using membrane with 3 kD cut-off, however exerted potent inhibitory activity on Rb⁺ uptake in COS7 cells. Mass-spectrometric analysis

of non-protein fraction of solubilized agrin C20 performed independently in the facility in Aarhus University in Denmark and in Science for Life Laboratory in Sweden, revealed the presence of ouabain in a 5-7 mM range of concentration. Agrin C15 on the other hand was shown to be ouabain free. However the presence of CNQX, the AMPA receptor inhibitor, was identified in the agrin C15 instead.

We contacted Martin Smith, but no explanation about the ouabain contamination in the solubilized agrin C20 samples that we received in 2008 and 2010 was provided. We obtained from Martin Smith's group freshly prepared ouabain free solubilized agrin C20. This ouabain free solubilized agrin C20 was used in the assay measuring ATP hydrolysis in the murine brain lysate that contains abundance of $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, and $\alpha 3$ isoforms of Na,K-ATPase. The high concentration of 20kD agrin did not affect ATPase activity in the brain lysate.

4.3.2 Review of studies identifying Na,K-ATPase α3 as a new agrin receptor

In the light of our findings we reviewed the Cell paper by Hilgenberg et al. (2006) and in retrospect many of the presented results raise some serious concerns.

The interaction between agrin and Na,K-ATPase α 3 was identified by crosslinking of agrin C20 to the surface of neuronal culture followed by mass spectrometry analysis. It seems likely that mass-spectrometric analysis had revealed additional candidate proteins in complex with agrin, and a complete list of the proteins identified by mass-spectrometry would have been of interest for interpretation of the functional studies. Western blot analysis further confirmed that agrin C20 cross-links with Na,K-ATPase α 3. Cross-linking between agrin C20 and Na,K-ATPase α 1 and α 2 was negative. The cross-linking assay followed by western blot analysis is generally considered to be a specific method to identify weak or transient protein-protein interactions. The inconsistencies in the ability of agrin C20 to cross-link to the Na,K-ATPase α 1 in COS7 cells (personal communication) raises a concern about the specificity of the cross-linking protocol used in these studies. Methods such as co-immunoprecipitation or pull down assay, that would support these findings, were not performed.

There are inconsistencies in the presented immunostaining in Fig2. While Fig 2b shows a typical plasma membrane distribution of Na,K-ATPase α 3, in Fig 2c there is no plasma membrane localization of Na,K-ATPase α 3 and a strikingly high degree of co-localization with the pre-synaptic marker synaptophysin can be found. This could be either due to the use of primary antibodies from the same species (information about origin of synaptophysin antibody is missing) or due to problems with signal bleed through between synaptophysin and Na,K-ATPase α 3 channel during imaging. Binding of the agrin C20 to the surface of non-neuronal GFAP-positive cells transfected with Na,K-ATPase α 3 was also studied. In Fig4a confocal images of EGFP and fluorescein tagged GFAP are presented. Since their excitation and emission spectra overlap, no conclusions about their localization can be made.

The measurement of intracellular Na⁺ level using SBFI Na⁺ sensitive dye was performed as a functional experiment showing that agrin C20 inhibits the pumping function of Na,K-ATPase a3. The way the results are presented however makes it difficult to draw much conclusion from these studies. The intracellular Na⁺ level recordings were performed without calibration. The responses of the individual cells were normalized to their maximal response when treated with the ionophore gramicidin. Since the SBFI intensity increase is not linear relative to the increase of Na⁺ concentration, the data should not be subjected to quantification. The very rapid and robust increase of intracellular Na⁺ level after agrin C20 application, in the presence of a cocktail of drugs inhibiting action potentials and neurotransmission, is somewhat surprising. This would suggest that the Na,K-ATPase $\alpha 3$ is the main determinant of basal level of intracellular Na⁺ concentration although expression of Na,K-ATPase al in cortical neurons has been demonstrated (Zhang et al., 2009). The concentration of agrin used in this study is missing. Authors state that the concentration of agrin was assessed "based on their experience of ability of agrin to induce intracellular Ca2+ transient in cortical neurons" and refer to their earlier publication (Hilgenberg and Smith, 2004). The cited publication however does not contain any detail information that would clarify how the agrin C20 concentration was determined. The paper also lacks essential information about the experimental procedures and the origin of used antibodies.

The follow-up study Hilgenberg et al. (2009) performed on mouse cardiac ventricle tissue and cultured cardiomyocytes does not raise as many concerns. The Na,K-ATPase activity is assessed by measurement of ATP hydrolysis and by intracellular Na⁺ measurements. Again the experiments using SBFI Na⁺ sensitive dye were not calibrated. The increase of intracellular Na⁺ induced by agrin C20 was 50% of the maximal response induced by gramicidin, while 5 mM ouabain induced 70% increase of intracellular Na⁺ level compared to the maximal response to gramicidin. This would suggest that Na,K-ATPase α 1 plays a minor role in the determination of the intracellular Na⁺ level in cardiomyocytes. Whether the ouabain contaminated agrin C20 was used in this study is not clear.

In conclusion, the finding that agrin potentially binds to Na,K-ATPase α 3 is very interesting, but the function of this interaction remains elusive. We feel that since the functional studies presented by Hilgenberg et al. are inconclusive and since we were not able to reproduce an inhibitory effect of solubilized agrin C20 on ATPase activity, the conclusions made by Hilgenberg and colleagues need to be revised and their data re-interpreted. In any case we have unintentionally reproduced our previous findings describing ouabain/Na,K-ATPase signaling mechanism in a novel kind of "double-blinded study."

4.3.3 Future perspectives

We have shown that ouabain-free agrin C20 has no effect on ATPase activity in brain lysate. It is however of importance to test the ability of agrin to inhibit Na,K-ATPase pumping function in other models. There are published studies where authors suggest that the described agrin effects might be mediated through Na,K-ATPase α3. In none of these studies however was the activity of Na,K-ATPase in response to agrin examined. Burk et al. (2012) showed that agrin is necessary for morphological differentiation and survival of new olfactory bulb interneurons. Overexpression of dominant negative 15kD agrin C-terminus resulted in loss of mature interneurons. Since agrin C15 was reported by Hilgenberg et. al (2006) to compete with full length agrin for binding to Na,K-ATPase α 3, the authors concluded that agrin acts via Na,K-ATPase in olfactory bulb interneurons. This is however indirect and insufficient evidence since agrin C15 might disrupt agrin binding with any putative receptor. Kirshenbaum et al. (2012) demonstrated that partial suppression of agrin expression in heterozygote agrin deficient mice reduces mania-like symptoms in mice with loss of function mutation in Na,K-ATPase $\alpha 3$. Authors admit that since the agrin suppression did not result in expected increase of Na,K-ATPase activity in the brain, agrin does not inhibit Na,K-ATPase activity directly and the mechanism behind the behavior changes in these mice is more complex. Zhang et al. (2009) has shown that agrin depolarizes the membrane in cortical neurons. The rapid membrane depolarization induced by agrin was in contrast to the slowly build increase of the membrane potential induced by 50 µM ouabain. This suggests different mechanisms of ouabain and agrin induced membrane depolarization. The example of these publications stresses the importance to clarify the role of agrin in the regulation of Na,K-ATPase activity to avoid data misinterpretation.

Beside the Na,K-ATPase, the molecules such as α -dystroglycan (Qu and Smith, 2004), integrins (Burgess et al., 2002), and MuSK (Daniels, 2012; Ksiazek et al., 2007) have been considered as agrin receptors or related to an agrin receptor in the brain. However none of them can fully explain all the experimental results. Agrin is a large protein that exists in either secreted or transmembrane form and possesses several splicing sites. It is therefore likely that agrin induced effects in the brain are mediated by different mechanisms.

The neurotrypsin mediated cleavage of 22 kD agrin on the neuronal synapse is dependent on the NMDA receptor (NMDAR) activation (Matsumoto-Miyai et al., 2009). Recently agrin has been shown to co-precipitate with and induce phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit of NMDAR in spinal cord (Cui and Bazan, 2010). In our study NMDAR receptor inhibitor D-AP5 inhibited solubilized agrin C20-induced Ca²⁺ signaling in hippocampal neurons (Fig 4.5). Whether these oscillations were induced by agrin or ouabain however remains to be answered.

In the last few years there has been raising concern about the reproducibility of scientific studies. About 65% of the projects in the industrial labs investigating candidate cancer drug targets that are based on published studies must be terminated due to data inconsistencies. The reproducibility of published data did not significantly correlate with journal impact factors (Prinz et al., 2011). This decrease in the reproducibility of data can only from a very small part be attributed to fraud. In

many cases the lack of reproducibility can be explained by the heterogeneous experimental conditions. More importantly the lack of proper controls, use of incorrect statistical methods, avoiding the presentation of negative results, or results that are not in the line with the hypothesis, leads to misinterpretation of data. Many publishers have recently taken an action to improve their peer review process. However since there is no way to ensure that the results of the published studies are correct, it is important to critically evaluate every study even if it is published in a high profile journal.

5 CONCLUSIONS

 Ca^{2+} is the most universal yet the most versatile signaling mechanism in the cell. The complexity of the Ca^{2+} signal is regulated through mechanisms controlling Ca^{2+} transport between the cytoplasm, extracellular space and cellular compartments. This thesis focuses on the regulation of Ca^{2+} release from endoplasmic reticulum *via* IP₃R. Two mechanisms inducing IP₃R mediated Ca^{2+} signal were studied; the canonical pathway triggered through activation of PLC *via* G-protein coupled AT1R signaling, and the noncanonical IP₃ independent pathway triggered through interaction with ouabain bound Na,K-ATPase. In both models the importance of the protein-protein interaction on the Ca^{2+} response was demonstrated.

Angiotensin II activates AT1R and induces Ca^{2+} release through the IP₃R. We have demonstrated that AT1R forms heterodimer with D1R in renal proximal tubule. We have shown that activation of D1R leads to rapid and reversible uncoupling of AT1R from its G protein signaling and *vice versa* activation of AT1R disabled signaling function of D1R. This represents a new mechanism of short term regulation of AT1R and D1R G protein coupled signaling.

We have shown that the cytoskeleton associated protein, ankyrin B, stabilizes the interaction between ouabain bound Na,K-ATPase and IP₃R. This scaffolding function of ankyrin B has been demonstrated to be of importance for the transmission of the ouabain-induced signal from the Na,K-ATPase to the IP₃R. In the absence of the ankyrin B, the ouabain-triggered IP₃R activation was disturbed, resulting either in complete fail of Ca²⁺ release or in the dysregulation of the Ca²⁺ signal. The importance of the precise regulation of the Ca²⁺ response was demonstrated since the ouabain-induced Ca²⁺ oscillations in ankyrin B down-regulated cells could not be properly decoded and failed to activate down-stream signaling pathway.

In the last study we revealed that the effects of 20 kD agrin fragment on Na,K-ATPase pumping and signaling function is due to ouabain contamination. Nevertheless we have described a new kind of Ca^{2+} signal in primary hippocampal neurons. Solubilized agrin C20 triggered slow Ca^{2+} oscillations that were superimposed on the spontaneous fast frequency Ca^{2+} signal. Although the origin of these Ca^{2+} oscillations, both the trigger of the signal and the Ca^{2+} entry pathway, remains unclear, we have demonstrated that two independent Ca^{2+} signals can simultaneously exists in the same cell. This adds another level to the complexity and variability of the Ca^{2+} signaling.

6 AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

During my PhD I met many amazing people, who helped me, supported me, and inspired me.

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisors:

Professor Anita Aperia for accepting me to her group, giving her trust in me, teaching me different aspects of science, for her enthusiasm for science and endless energy.

Xiao Liu, my tutor in the lab, for always willing to help me and support me and for always treating me more like a colleague than a student.

I would like to thank all my co-authors for their hard work, specially:

Professor Hjalmar Brismar for his excellent expertise and valuable advices in imaging. Alexander for excellent molecular biology expertise, for all the possible constructs that he made even before I asked. Farah for her kindness, for all the hours we spend together over the calcium recordings. Susanna for teaching me about calcium recordings. Lena for sharing her knowledge about GPCRs and her love to cats.

I would like to thanks my present as well as former colleagues at Astrid Lindgren Hospital and SciLifeLab:

Nina, my friend, for always being supportive and caring, for sharing all the fun times, for being a great company for doing any kind of activity. My room-mates, Gosha for great discussions and expertise in every topic; Jay for being always cool and fun; Carolina for her positive spirit; Thomas for his generosity. Markus for saving my computer as well as fixing the microscope x-times, and for always willing to help or give an advice; Yutong, for cheerful discussions; Linda for her infectious enthusiasm in neuroscience; Kristoffer and Linnéa for early lunch company; Evgeniya for all the hard work for the agrin project; Sergey and Marina for the fun at badminton; Siobhán for pushing me into all those fun competitions; Rachel, Juan, Nermin, Susanne, Yanhong, Guillaume, Dong, Jerry, Shigeki, Jacob, Eli, Andreas, Otto, Daria, Matthias, Hans, Dadi, Evgeny, Nicolas, Agneta, Oleg, Pernilla, Ulla for creating very friendly and stimulating atmosphere. Josephine and Velina for their excellent assistance with the animal. Eivor and Lollo for excellent cell culture support. Lill-Britt for being always helpful and open to my last minute orders. Raija for her administrative help. Ann-Christinne for her expertise and help with the ethical permission applications. I would like to thank Zachi and Liv for being great and fun friends. Sermin for her creative spirit.

I would like to thank my Czech friends:

Víťa Bryja, his wife Lenka and kids for being my second family during my first two years in Sweden. Martina and Darina for all the great discussions about life and the life in science over the beer and fun trips together. Zita, my best friend, for always be there for me, for all the support and fun we had together.

My new Persian family for all their help and kindness.

My parents and my brother: Děkuji za vaši podporu, starost, obětavost a důvěru.

My husband Ali for all the support and love, for making me a better person and for standing beside me in a good and bad times.

My little son Sam, my source of joy and energy, for bringing a new meaning in my life.

7 REFERENCES

2003. Whither RNAi? Nat Cell Biol 5(6):489-490.

- AbdAlla S, Lother H, Langer A, el Faramawy Y, Quitterer U. 2004. Factor XIIIA transglutaminase crosslinks AT1 receptor dimers of monocytes at the onset of atherosclerosis. Cell 119(3):343-354.
- AbdAlla S, Lother H, Quitterer U. 2000. AT1-receptor heterodimers show enhanced Gprotein activation and altered receptor sequestration. Nature 407(6800):94-98.
- Aizman O, Uhlen P, Lal M, Brismar H, Aperia A. 2001. Ouabain, a steroid hormone that signals with slow calcium oscillations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(23):13420-13424.
- Albers RW. 1967. Biochemical aspects of active transport. Annu Rev Biochem 36:727-756.
- Alzayady KJ, Wojcikiewicz RJ. 2005. The role of Ca2+ in triggering inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate receptor ubiquitination. Biochem J 392(Pt 3):601-606.
- Ando H, Mizutani A, Kiefer H, Tsuzurugi D, Michikawa T, Mikoshiba K. 2006. IRBIT suppresses IP3 receptor activity by competing with IP3 for the common binding site on the IP3 receptor. Mol Cell 22(6):795-806.
- Ando H, Mizutani A, Matsu-ura T, Mikoshiba K. 2003. IRBIT, a novel inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate (IP3) receptor-binding protein, is released from the IP3 receptor upon IP3 binding to the receptor. J Biol Chem 278(12):10602-10612.
- Aperia A, Bertorello A, Seri I. 1987. Dopamine causes inhibition of Na+-K+-ATPase activity in rat proximal convoluted tubule segments. Am J Physiol 252(1 Pt 2):F39-45.
- Aperia A, Holtback U, Syren ML, Svensson LB, Fryckstedt J, Greengard P. 1994. Activation/deactivation of renal Na+,K(+)-ATPase: a final common pathway for regulation of natriuresis. FASEB J 8(6):436-439.
- Aperia A, Ibarra F, Svensson LB, Klee C, Greengard P. 1992. Calcineurin mediates alphaadrenergic stimulation of Na+,K(+)-ATPase activity in renal tubule cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89(16):7394-7397.
- Aperia AC. 2000. Intrarenal dopamine: a key signal in the interactive regulation of sodium metabolism. Annu Rev Physiol 62:621-647.
- Asico L, Zhang X, Jiang J, Cabrera D, Escano CS, Sibley DR, Wang X, Yang Y, Mannon R, Jones JE, Armando I, Jose PA. 2011. Lack of renal dopamine D5 receptors promotes hypertension. J Am Soc Nephrol 22(1):82-89.
- Badou A, Jha MK, Matza D, Flavell RA. 2013. Emerging Roles of L-Type Voltage-Gated and Other Calcium Channels in T Lymphocytes. Front Immunol 4:243.
- Banday AA, Lokhandwala MF. 2011. Angiotensin II-mediated biphasic regulation of proximal tubular Na+/H+ exchanger 3 is impaired during oxidative stress. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 301(2):F364-370.
- Barwe SP, Anilkumar G, Moon SY, Zheng Y, Whitelegge JP, Rajasekaran SA, Rajasekaran AK. 2005. Novel role for Na,K-ATPase in phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling and suppression of cell motility. Mol Biol Cell 16(3):1082-1094.
- Beaulieu JM, Gainetdinov RR. 2011. The physiology, signaling, and pharmacology of dopamine receptors. Pharmacol Rev 63(1):182-217.
- Beguin P, Beggah AT, Chibalin AV, Burgener-Kairuz P, Jaisser F, Mathews PM, Rossier BC, Cotecchia S, Geering K. 1994. Phosphorylation of the Na,K-ATPase alpha-subunit by protein kinase A and C in vitro and in intact cells. Identification of a novel motif for PKC-mediated phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 269(39):24437-24445.
- Berk BC. 2003. Angiotensin type 2 receptor (AT2R): a challenging twin. Sci STKE 2003(181):PE16.

- Berna-Erro A, Redondo PC, Rosado JA. 2012. Store-operated Ca(2+) entry. Adv Exp Med Biol 740:349-382.
- Berridge MJ. 1993. Inositol trisphosphate and calcium signalling. Nature 361(6410):315-325.
- Berridge MJ, Bootman MD, Roderick HL. 2003. Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4(7):517-529.
- Bharatula M, Hussain T, Lokhandwala MF. 1998. Angiotensin II AT1 receptor/signaling mechanisms in the biphasic effect of the peptide on proximal tubular Na+,K+-ATPase. Clin Exp Hypertens 20(4):465-480.
- Boehning D, Patterson RL, Sedaghat L, Glebova NO, Kurosaki T, Snyder SH. 2003. Cytochrome c binds to inositol (1,4,5) trisphosphate receptors, amplifying calciumdependent apoptosis. Nat Cell Biol 5(12):1051-1061.
- Bourguignon LY, Jin H. 1995. Identification of the ankyrin-binding domain of the mouse Tlymphoma cell inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3) receptor and its role in the regulation of IP3-mediated internal Ca2+ release. J Biol Chem 270(13):7257-7260.
- Bozic M, Valdivielso JM. 2012. Calcium signaling in renal tubular cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 740:933-944.
- Burgess RW, Dickman DK, Nunez L, Glass DJ, Sanes JR. 2002. Mapping sites responsible for interactions of agrin with neurons. J Neurochem 83(2):271-284.
- Burk K, Desoeuvre A, Boutin C, Smith MA, Kroger S, Bosio A, Tiveron MC, Cremer H. 2012. Agrin-signaling is necessary for the integration of newly generated neurons in the adult olfactory bulb. J Neurosci 32(11):3759-3764.
- Burlaka I, Liu XL, Rebetz J, Arvidsson I, Yang L, Brismar H, Karpman D, Aperia A. 2013: Ouabain Protects against Shiga Toxin-Triggered Apoptosis by Reversing the Imbalance between Bax and Bcl-xL. J Am Soc Nephrol.
- Caroppo R, Colella M, Colasuonno A, DeLuisi A, Debellis L, Curci S, Hofer AM. 2003. A reassessment of the effects of luminal [Ca2+] on inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphateinduced Ca2+ release from internal stores. J Biol Chem 278(41):39503-39508.
- Cheng HF, Becker BN, Harris RC. 1996. Dopamine decreases expression of type-1 angiotensin II receptors in renal proximal tubule. J Clin Invest 97(12):2745-2752.
- Cheng SX, Aizman O, Nairn AC, Greengard P, Aperia A. 1999. [Ca2+]i determines the effects of protein kinases A and C on activity of rat renal Na+,K+-ATPase. J Physiol 518 (Pt 1):37-46.
- Cheng SY, Leonard JL, Davis PJ. Molecular aspects of thyroid hormone actions. 2010. Endocr Rev 31(2):139-170.
- Cheng XJ, Fisone G, Aizman O, Aizman R, Levenson R, Greengard P, Aperia A. 1997. PKAmediated phosphorylation and inhibition of Na(+)-K(+)-ATPase in response to betaadrenergic hormone. Am J Physiol 273(3 Pt 1):C893-901.
- Cheung KH, Shineman D, Muller M, Cardenas C, Mei L, Yang J, Tomita T, Iwatsubo T, Lee VM, Foskett JK. 2008. Mechanism of Ca2+ disruption in Alzheimer's disease by presenilin regulation of InsP3 receptor channel gating. Neuron 58(6):871-883.
- Choi MR, Correa AH, del Valle Turco V, Garcia FA, Fernandez BE. 2006. Angiotensin II regulates extraneuronal dopamine uptake in the kidney. Nephron Physiol 104(4):136-143.
- Clausen T, Van Hardeveld C, Everts ME. 1991. Significance of cation transport in control of energy metabolism and thermogenesis. Physiol Rev 71(3):733-774.
- Cornelius F. 1995. Cholesterol modulation of molecular activity of reconstituted shark Na+,K(+)-ATPase. Biochim Biophys Acta 1235(2):205-212.

- Cornelius F, Mahmmoud YA, Christensen HR. 2001. Modulation of Na,K-ATPase by associated small transmembrane regulatory proteins and by lipids. J Bioenerg Biomembr 33(5):415-423.
- Corvol JC, Studler JM, Schonn JS, Girault JA, Herve D. 2001. Galpha(olf) is necessary for coupling D1 and A2a receptors to adenylyl cyclase in the striatum. J Neurochem 76(5):1585-1588.
- Cui JG, Bazan NG. 2010. Agrin downregulation induced by nerve injury contributes to neuropathic pain. J Neurosci 30(45):15286-15297.
- Daniels MP. 2012. The role of agrin in synaptic development, plasticity and signaling in the central nervous system. Neurochem Int 61(6):848-853.
- De Koninck P, Schulman H. 1998. Sensitivity of CaM kinase II to the frequency of Ca2+ oscillations. Science 279(5348):227-230.
- Dearry A, Gingrich JA, Falardeau P, Fremeau RT, Jr., Bates MD, Caron MG. 1990. Molecular cloning and expression of the gene for a human D1 dopamine receptor. Nature 347(6288):72-76.
- Devarajan P, Scaramuzzino DA, Morrow JS. 1994. Ankyrin binds to two distinct cytoplasmic domains of Na,K-ATPase alpha subunit. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91(8):2965-2969.
- DeWire SM, Ahn S, Lefkowitz RJ, Shenoy SK. 2007. Beta-arrestins and cell signaling. Annu Rev Physiol 69:483-510.
- Dobretsov M, Stimers JR. 2005. Neuronal function and alpha3 isoform of the Na/K-ATPase. Front Biosci 10:2373-2396.
- Dolmetsch RE, Lewis RS, Goodnow CC, Healy JI. 1997. Differential activation of transcription factors induced by Ca2+ response amplitude and duration. Nature 386(6627):855-858.
- Dolmetsch RE, Xu K, Lewis RS. 1998. Calcium oscillations increase the efficiency and specificity of gene expression. Nature 392(6679):933-936.
- Dupont G, Combettes L, Bird GS, Putney JW. 2011. Calcium oscillations. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 3(3).
- Dupont G, Houart G, De Koninck P. 2003. Sensitivity of CaM kinase II to the frequency of Ca2+ oscillations: a simple model. Cell Calcium 34(6):485-497.
- Dvela M, Rosen H, Ben-Ami HC, Lichtstein D. 2012. Endogenous ouabain regulates cell viability. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 302(2):C442-452.
- Efendiev R, Pedemonte CH. 2006. Contrary to rat-type, human-type Na,K-ATPase is phosphorylated at the same amino acid by hormones that produce opposite effects on enzyme activity. J Am Soc Nephrol 17(1):31-38.
- Fabiato A. 1983. Calcium-induced release of calcium from the cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum. Am J Physiol 245(1):C1-14.
- Feig LA. 2011. Regulation of Neuronal Function by Ras-GRF Exchange Factors. Genes Cancer 2(3):306-319.
- Feldmann T, Shahar M, Baba A, Matsuda T, Lichtstein D, Rosen H. 2011. The Na(+)/Ca(2+)exchanger: an essential component in the mechanism governing cardiac steroidinduced slow Ca(2+) oscillations. Cell Calcium 50(5):424-432.
- Ferrandi M, Molinari I, Barassi P, Minotti E, Bianchi G, Ferrari P. 2004. Organ hypertrophic signaling within caveolae membrane subdomains triggered by ouabain and antagonized by PST 2238. J Biol Chem 279(32):33306-33314.
- Ferrandi M, Salardi S, Tripodi G, Barassi P, Rivera R, Manunta P, Goldshleger R, Ferrari P, Bianchi G, Karlish SJ. 1999. Evidence for an interaction between adducin and Na(+)-K(+)-ATPase: relation to genetic hypertension. Am J Physiol 277(4 Pt 2):H1338-1349.

- Fisone G, Cheng SX, Nairn AC, Czernik AJ, Hemmings HC, Jr., Hoog JO, Bertorello AM, Kaiser R, Bergman T, Jornvall H, et al. 1994. Identification of the phosphorylation site for cAMP-dependent protein kinase on Na+,K(+)-ATPase and effects of site-directed mutagenesis. J Biol Chem 269(12):9368-9373.
- Fontana JM, Burlaka I, Khodus G, Brismar H, Aperia A. 2013. Calcium oscillations triggered by Cardiotonic Steroids. FEBS J.
- Frank KF, Bolck B, Brixius K, Kranias EG, Schwinger RH. 2002. Modulation of SERCA: implications for the failing human heart. Basic Res Cardiol 97 Suppl 1:172-78.
- Fredriksson R, Lagerstrom MC, Lundin LG, Schioth HB. 2003. The G-protein-coupled receptors in the human genome form five main families. Phylogenetic analysis, paralogon groups, and fingerprints. Mol Pharmacol 63(6):1256-1272.
- Fujii T, Onohara N, Maruyama Y, Tanabe S, Kobayashi H, Fukutomi M, Nagamatsu Y, Nishihara N, Inoue R, Sumimoto H, Shibasaki F, Nagao T, Nishida M, Kurose H. 2005. Galpha12/13-mediated production of reactive oxygen species is critical for angiotensin receptor-induced NFAT activation in cardiac fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 280(24):23041-23047.
- Garty H, Karlish SJ. 2006. Role of FXYD proteins in ion transport. Annu Rev Physiol 68:431-459.
- Gavryck WA, Moore RD, Thompson RC. 1975. Effect of insulin upon membrane-bound (Na+ + K+)-ATPase extracted from frog skeletal muscle. J Physiol 252(1):43-58.
- Geering K. 1991. The functional role of the beta-subunit in the maturation and intracellular transport of Na,K-ATPase. FEBS Lett 285(2):189-193.
- Geering K. 2001. The functional role of beta subunits in oligomeric P-type ATPases. J Bioenerg Biomembr 33(5):425-438.
- Geering K. 2006. FXYD proteins: new regulators of Na-K-ATPase. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 290(2):F241-250.
- Gees M, Owsianik G, Nilius B, Voets T. 2012. TRP channels. Compr Physiol 2(1):563-608.
- Geibel J, Giebisch G, Boron WF. 1990. Angiotensin II stimulates both Na(+)-H+ exchange and Na+/HCO3- cotransport in the rabbit proximal tubule. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87(20):7917-7920.
- Geyer HL, Bressman SB. 2011. Rapid-onset dystonia parkinsonism. Handb Clin Neurol 100:559-62
- Giacomello M, De Mario A, Scarlatti C, Primerano S, Carafoli E. 2013. Plasma membrane calcium ATPases and related disorders. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 45(3):753-762.
- Gildea JJ, Tran HT, Van Sciver RE, Bigler Wang D, Carlson JM, Felder RA. 2013. A novel role for c-Myc in G protein-coupled receptor kinase 4 (GRK4) transcriptional regulation in human kidney proximal tubule cells. Hypertension 61(5):1021-1027.
- Gildea JJ, Wang X, Jose PA, Felder RA. 2008. Differential D1 and D5 receptor regulation and degradation of the angiotensin type 1 receptor. Hypertension 51(2):360-366.
- Gooz M, Vakkuri O, de Chatel R, Szalay KS, Toth M. 2004. Elevated blood levels of endogenous ouabain-like factor in preterm versus mature newborns at birth. Biol Neonate 85(3):155-158.
- Gutman Y, Shamir Y, Glushevitzky D, Hochman S. 1972. Angiotensin increases microsomal (Na + -K +)-ATPase activity in several tissues. Biochim Biophys Acta 273(2):401-405.
- Haas M, Wang H, Tian J, Xie Z. 2002. Src-mediated inter-receptor cross-talk between the Na+/K+-ATPase and the epidermal growth factor receptor relays the signal from ouabain to mitogen-activated protein kinases. J Biol Chem 277(21):18694-18702.
- Hamlyn JM, Blaustein MP, Bova S, DuCharme DW, Harris DW, Mandel F, Mathews WR, Ludens JH. 1991. Identification and characterization of a ouabain-like compound from human plasma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88(14):6259-6263.

- Hattori M, Suzuki AZ, Higo T, Miyauchi H, Michikawa T, Nakamura T, Inoue T, Mikoshiba K. 2004. Distinct roles of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor types 1 and 3 in Ca2+ signaling. J Biol Chem 279(12):11967-11975.
- Heinzen EL, Swoboda KJ, Hitomi Y, Gurrieri F, Nicole S, de Vries B, Tiziano FD, Fontaine B, Walley NM, Heavin S, Panagiotakaki E, Fiori S, Abiusi E, Di Pietro L, Sweney MT, Newcomb TM, Viollet L, Huff C, Jorde LB, Reyna SP, Murphy KJ, Shianna KV, Gumbs CE, Little L, Silver K, Ptacek LJ, Haan J, Ferrari MD, Bye AM, Herkes GK, Whitelaw CM, Webb D, Lynch BJ, Uldall P, King MD, Scheffer IE, Neri G, Arzimanoglou A, van den Maagdenberg AM, Sisodiya SM, Mikati MA, Goldstein DB. De novo mutations in ATP1A3 cause alternating hemiplegia of childhood. 2012. Nat Genet 44(9):1030-1034.
- Hermanson GT, Mattson GR, See SG, Seely SA. 1994. Preparation and use of biotin-binding supports on a biosupport medium. Am Biotechnol Lab 12(10):86, 88.
- Hilgenberg LG, Pham B, Ortega M, Walid S, Kemmerly T, O'Dowd DK, Smith MA. 2009. Agrin regulation of alpha3 sodium-potassium ATPase activity modulates cardiac myocyte contraction. J Biol Chem 284(25):16956-16965.
- Hilgenberg LG, Smith MA. 2004. Agrin signaling in cortical neurons is mediated by a tyrosine kinase-dependent increase in intracellular Ca2+ that engages both CaMKII and MAPK signal pathways. J Neurobiol 61(3):289-300.
- Hilgenberg LG, Su H, Gu H, O'Dowd DK, Smith MA. 2006. Alpha3Na+/K+-ATPase is a neuronal receptor for agrin. Cell 125(2):359-369.
- Hilton PJ, White RW, Lord GA, Garner GV, Gordon DB, Hilton MJ, Forni LG, McKinnon W, Ismail FM, Keenan M, Jones K, Morden WE. 1996. An inhibitor of the sodium pump obtained from human placenta. Lancet 348(9023):303-305.
- Hirose K, Kadowaki S, Tanabe M, Takeshima H, Iino M. 1999. Spatiotemporal dynamics of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate that underlies complex Ca2+ mobilization patterns. Science 284(5419):1527-1530.
- Hunyady L, Baukal AJ, Gaborik Z, Olivares-Reyes JA, Bor M, Szaszak M, Lodge R, Catt KJ, Balla T. 2002. Differential PI 3-kinase dependence of early and late phases of recycling of the internalized AT1 angiotensin receptor. J Cell Biol 157(7):1211-1222.
- Hunyady L, Catt KJ. 2006. Pleiotropic AT1 receptor signaling pathways mediating physiological and pathogenic actions of angiotensin II. Mol Endocrinol 20(5):953-970.
- Ibarra F, Crambert S, Eklof AC, Lundquist A, Hansell P, Holtback U. 2005. Prolactin, a natriuretic hormone, interacting with the renal dopamine system. Kidney Int 68(4):1700-1707.
- Jansson K, Nguyen AN, Magenheimer BS, Reif GA, Aramadhaka LR, Bello-Reuss E, Wallace DP, Calvet JP, Blanco G. 2012. Endogenous concentrations of ouabain act as a cofactor to stimulate fluid secretion and cyst growth of in vitro ADPKD models via cAMP and EGFR-Src-MEK pathways. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 303(7):F982-990.
- Jordan C, Puschel B, Koob R, Drenckhahn D. 1995. Identification of a binding motif for ankyrin on the alpha-subunit of Na+,K(+)-ATPase. J Biol Chem 270(50):29971-29975.
- Kach J, Sethakorn N, Dulin NO. 2012. A finer tuning of G-protein signaling through regulated control of RGS proteins. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 303(1):H19-35.
- Kanai R, Ogawa H, Vilsen B, Cornelius F, Toyoshima C. 2013. Crystal structure of a Na+bound Na+,K+-ATPase preceding the E1P state. Nature 502(7470):201-206.
- Karasewski L, Ferreira A. 2003. MAPK signal transduction pathway mediates agrin effects on neurite elongation in cultured hippocampal neurons. J Neurobiol 55(1):14-24.

- Kim CH, Braud S, Isaac JT, Roche KW. 2005. Protein kinase C phosphorylation of the metabotropic glutamate receptor mGluR5 on Serine 839 regulates Ca2+ oscillations. J Biol Chem 280(27):25409-25415.
- Kim KS, Abraham D, Williams B, Violin JD, Mao L, Rockman HA. beta-Arrestin-biased AT1R stimulation promotes cell survival during acute cardiac injury. 2012. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 303(8):H1001-1010.
- Kirshenbaum GS, Clapcote SJ, Petersen J, Vilsen B, Ralph MR, Roder JC. 2012. Genetic suppression of agrin reduces mania-like behavior in Na+ , K+ -ATPase alpha3 mutant mice. Genes Brain Behav 11(4):436-443.
- Kline CF, Cunha SR, Lowe JS, Hund TJ, Mohler PJ. 2008. Revisiting ankyrin-InsP3 receptor interactions: ankyrin-B associates with the cytoplasmic N-terminus of the InsP3 receptor. J Cell Biochem 104(4):1244-1253.
- Kohout TA, Lefkowitz RJ. 2003. Regulation of G protein-coupled receptor kinases and arrestins during receptor desensitization. Mol Pharmacol 63(1):9-18.
- Kometiani P, Liu L, Askari A. 2005. Digitalis-induced signaling by Na+/K+-ATPase in human breast cancer cells. Mol Pharmacol 67(3):929-936.
- Kotova O, Al-Khalili L, Talia S, Hooke C, Fedorova OV, Bagrov AY, Chibalin AV. 2006. Cardiotonic steroids stimulate glycogen synthesis in human skeletal muscle cells via a Src- and ERK1/2-dependent mechanism. J Biol Chem 281(29):20085-20094.
- Ksiazek I, Burkhardt C, Lin S, Seddik R, Maj M, Bezakova G, Jucker M, Arber S, Caroni P, Sanes JR, Bettler B, Ruegg MA. 2007. Synapse loss in cortex of agrin-deficient mice after genetic rescue of perinatal death. J Neurosci 27(27):7183-7195.
- Kulikov A, Eva A, Kirch U, Boldyrev A, Scheiner-Bobis G. 2007. Ouabain activates signaling pathways associated with cell death in human neuroblastoma. Biochim Biophys Acta 1768(7):1691-1702.
- Kupzig S, Walker SA, Cullen PJ. 2005. The frequencies of calcium oscillations are optimized for efficient calcium-mediated activation of Ras and the ERK/MAPK cascade. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(21):7577-7582.
- Kurachi Y, Ishii M. 2004. Cell signal control of the G protein-gated potassium channel and its subcellular localization. J Physiol 554(Pt 2):285-294.
- Laredo J, Hamilton BP, Hamlyn JM. 1994. Ouabain is secreted by bovine adrenocortical cells. Endocrinology 135(2):794-797.
- Larre I, Lazaro A, Contreras RG, Balda MS, Matter K, Flores-Maldonado C, Ponce A, Flores-Benitez D, Rincon-Heredia R, Padilla-Benavides T, Castillo A, Shoshani L, Cereijido M. 2010. Ouabain modulates epithelial cell tight junction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(25):11387-11392.
- Laursen M, Yatime L, Nissen P, Fedosova NU. 2013. Crystal structure of the high-affinity Na+K+-ATPase-ouabain complex with Mg2+ bound in the cation binding site. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(27):10958-10963.
- LeBeau AP, Yule DI, Groblewski GE, Sneyd J. 1999. Agonist-dependent phosphorylation of the inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor: A possible mechanism for agonist-specific calcium oscillations in pancreatic acinar cells. J Gen Physiol 113(6):851-872.
- Lee B, Vermassen E, Yoon SY, Vanderheyden V, Ito J, Alfandari D, De Smedt H, Parys JB, Fissore RA. 2006. Phosphorylation of IP3R1 and the regulation of [Ca2+]i responses at fertilization: a role for the MAP kinase pathway. Development 133(21):4355-4365.
- Lee YK, Ng KM, Lai WH, Man C, Lieu DK, Lau CP, Tse HF, Siu CW. 2011. Ouabain facilitates cardiac differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells through ERK1/2 pathway. Acta Pharmacol Sin 32(1):52-61.

- Lefkowitz RJ, Shenoy SK. 2005. Transduction of receptor signals by beta-arrestins. Science 308(5721):512-517.
- Li D, Scott L, Crambert S, Zelenin S, Eklof AC, Di Ciano L, Ibarra F, Aperia A. 2012. Binding of losartan to angiotensin AT1 receptors increases dopamine D1 receptor activation. J Am Soc Nephrol 23(3):421-428.
- Li H, Armando I, Yu P, Escano C, Mueller SC, Asico L, Pascua A, Lu Q, Wang X, Villar VA, Jones JE, Wang Z, Periasamy A, Lau YS, Soares-da-Silva P, Creswell K, Guillemette G, Sibley DR, Eisner G, Gildea JJ, Felder RA, Jose PA. 2008. Dopamine 5 receptor mediates Ang II type 1 receptor degradation via a ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in mice and human cells. J Clin Invest 118(6):2180-2189.
- Li J, Khodus GR, Kruusmagi M, Kamali-Zare P, Liu XL, Eklof AC, Zelenin S, Brismar H, Aperia A. 2010. Ouabain protects against adverse developmental programming of the kidney. Nat Commun 1:42.
- Li J, Zelenin S, Aperia A, Aizman O. 2006. Low doses of ouabain protect from serum deprivation-triggered apoptosis and stimulate kidney cell proliferation via activation of NF-kappaB. J Am Soc Nephrol 17(7):1848-1857.
- Li KC, Zhang FX, Li CL, Wang F, Yu MY, Zhong YQ, Zhang KH, Lu YJ, Wang Q, Ma XL, Yao JR, Wang JY, Lin LB, Han M, Zhang YQ, Kuner R, Xiao HS, Bao L, Gao X, Zhang X. 2011. Follistatin-like 1 suppresses sensory afferent transmission by activating Na+,K+-ATPase. Neuron 69(5):974-987.
- Li L, Stefan MI, Le Novere N. 2012. Calcium input frequency, duration and amplitude differentially modulate the relative activation of calcineurin and CaMKII. PLoS One 7(9):e43810.
- Li Q, O'Neill SC, Tao T, Li Y, Eisner D, Zhang H. Mechanisms by which cytoplasmic calcium wave propagation and alternans are generated in cardiac atrial myocytes lacking T-tubules-insights from a simulation study. 2012. Biophys J 102(7):1471-1482.
- Li W, Llopis J, Whitney M, Zlokarnik G, Tsien RY. 1998. Cell-permeant caged InsP3 ester shows that Ca2+ spike frequency can optimize gene expression. Nature 392(6679):936-941.
- Liang M, Tian J, Liu L, Pierre S, Liu J, Shapiro J, Xie ZJ. 2007. Identification of a pool of nonpumping Na/K-ATPase. J Biol Chem 282(14):10585-10593.
- Lingrel JB. 2010. The physiological significance of the cardiotonic steroid/ouabain-binding site of the Na,K-ATPase. Annu Rev Physiol 72:395-412.
- Lingrel JB, Kuntzweiler T. 1994. Na+,K(+)-ATPase. J Biol Chem 269(31):19659-19662.
- Liu L, Ivanov AV, Gable ME, Jolivel F, Morrill GA, Askari A. 2011. Comparative properties of caveolar and noncaveolar preparations of kidney Na+/K+-ATPase. Biochemistry 50(40):8664-8673.
- Liu L, Zhao X, Pierre SV, Askari A. 2007. Association of PI3K-Akt signaling pathway with digitalis-induced hypertrophy of cardiac myocytes. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 293(5):C1489-1497.
- Lu HK, Fern RJ, Luthin D, Linden J, Liu LP, Cohen CJ, Barrett PQ. 1996. Angiotensin II stimulates T-type Ca2+ channel currents via activation of a G protein, Gi. Am J Physiol 271(4 Pt 1):C1340-1349.
- Lundstrom K. 2009. An overview on GPCRs and drug discovery: structure-based drug design and structural biology on GPCRs. Methods Mol Biol 552:51-66.
- Luo X, Popov S, Bera AK, Wilkie TM, Muallem S. 2001. RGS proteins provide biochemical control of agonist-evoked [Ca2+]i oscillations. Mol Cell 7(3):651-660.
- Lutsenko S, Kaplan JH. 1993. An essential role for the extracellular domain of the Na,K-ATPase beta-subunit in cation occlusion. Biochemistry 32(26):6737-6743.
- Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ. 2002. The role of beta-arrestins in the termination and transduction of G-protein-coupled receptor signals. J Cell Sci 115(Pt 3):455-465.
- Matsumoto-Miyai K, Sokolowska E, Zurlinden A, Gee CE, Luscher D, Hettwer S, Wolfel J, Ladner AP, Ster J, Gerber U, Rulicke T, Kunz B, Sonderegger P. 2009. Coincident preand postsynaptic activation induces dendritic filopodia via neurotrypsin-dependent agrin cleavage. Cell 136(6):1161-1171.
- Maxwell JT, Blatter LA. 2012. Facilitation of cytosolic calcium wave propagation by local calcium uptake into the sarcoplasmic reticulum in cardiac myocytes. J Physiol 590(Pt 23):6037-6045.
- McCroskery S, Bailey A, Lin L, Daniels MP. 2009. Transmembrane agrin regulates dendritic filopodia and synapse formation in mature hippocampal neuron cultures. Neuroscience 163(1):168-179.
- Mikoshiba K. 2007. IP3 receptor/Ca2+ channel: from discovery to new signaling concepts. J Neurochem 102(5):1426-1446.
- Miyakawa-Naito A, Uhlen P, Lal M, Aizman O, Mikoshiba K, Brismar H, Zelenin S, Aperia A. 2003. Cell signaling microdomain with Na,K-ATPase and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor generates calcium oscillations. J Biol Chem 278(50):50355-50361.
- Miyakawa T, Maeda A, Yamazawa T, Hirose K, Kurosaki T, Iino M. 1999. Encoding of Ca2+ signals by differential expression of IP3 receptor subtypes. EMBO J 18(5):1303-1308.
- Mohler PJ, Davis JQ, Bennett V. 2005. Ankyrin-B coordinates the Na/K ATPase, Na/Ca exchanger, and InsP3 receptor in a cardiac T-tubule/SR microdomain. PLoS Biol 3(12):e423.
- Mohler PJ, Gramolini AO, Bennett V. 2002. Ankyrins. J Cell Sci 115(Pt 8):1565-1566.
- Mohler PJ, Schott JJ, Gramolini AO, Dilly KW, Guatimosim S, duBell WH, Song LS, Haurogne K, Kyndt F, Ali ME, Rogers TB, Lederer WJ, Escande D, Le Marec H, Bennett V. 2003. Ankyrin-B mutation causes type 4 long-QT cardiac arrhythmia and sudden cardiac death. Nature 421(6923):634-639.
- Morel JL, Fritz N, Lavie JL, Mironneau J. 2003. Crucial role of type 2 inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate receptors for acetylcholine-induced Ca2+ oscillations in vascular myocytes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23(9):1567-1575.
- Morrow JS, Cianci CD, Ardito T, Mann AS, Kashgarian M. 1989. Ankyrin links fodrin to the alpha subunit of Na,K-ATPase in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells and in intact renal tubule cells. J Cell Biol 108(2):455-465.
- Morth JP, Pedersen BP, Toustrup-Jensen MS, Sorensen TL, Petersen J, Andersen JP, Vilsen B, Nissen P. 2007. Crystal structure of the sodium-potassium pump. Nature 450(7172):1043-1049.
- Munzer JS, Daly SE, Jewell-Motz EA, Lingrel JB, Blostein R. 1994. Tissue- and isoform-specific kinetic behavior of the Na,K-ATPase. J Biol Chem 269(24):16668-16676.
- Nash MS, Young KW, Challiss RA, Nahorski SR. 2001. Intracellular signalling. Receptorspecific messenger oscillations. Nature 413(6854):381-382.
- Nyblom M, Poulsen H, Gourdon P, Reinhard L, Andersson M, Lindahl E, Fedosova N, Nissen P. 2013. Crystal Structure of Na+, K+-ATPase in the Na+-Bound State. Science 342(6154):123-127.
- O'Brien WJ, Lingrel JB, Wallick ET. 1994. Ouabain binding kinetics of the rat alpha two and alpha three isoforms of the sodium-potassium adenosine triphosphate. Arch Biochem Biophys 310(1):32-39.
- Oancea E, Meyer T. 1998. Protein kinase C as a molecular machine for decoding calcium and diacylglycerol signals. Cell 95(3):307-318.

- Ogawa H, Shinoda T, Cornelius F, Toyoshima C. 2009. Crystal structure of the sodiumpotassium pump (Na+,K+-ATPase) with bound potassium and ouabain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(33):13742-13747.
- Orlowski J, Lingrel JB. 1988. Tissue-specific and developmental regulation of rat Na,K-ATPase catalytic alpha isoform and beta subunit mRNAs. J Biol Chem 263(21):10436-10442.
- Ozawa T. Modulation of ryanodine receptor Ca2+ channels (Review). 2010. Mol Med Rep 3(2):199-204.
- Palade P, Mitchell RD, Fleischer S. 1983. Spontaneous calcium release from sarcoplasmic reticulum. General description and effects of calcium. J Biol Chem 258(13):8098-8107.
- Palmer AE, Jin C, Reed JC, Tsien RY. 2004. Bcl-2-mediated alterations in endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ analyzed with an improved genetically encoded fluorescent sensor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(50):17404-17409.
- Paoletti P, Bellone C, Zhou Q. 2013. NMDA receptor subunit diversity: impact on receptor properties, synaptic plasticity and disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 14(6):383-400.
- Parys JB, De Smedt H. 2012. Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate and its receptors. Adv Exp Med Biol 740:255-279.
- Patterson RL, Boehning D, Snyder SH. 2004. Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors as signal integrators. Annu Rev Biochem 73:437-465.
- Perry SJ, Baillie GS, Kohout TA, McPhee I, Magiera MM, Ang KL, Miller WE, McLean AJ, Conti M, Houslay MD, Lefkowitz RJ. 2002. Targeting of cyclic AMP degradation to beta 2adrenergic receptors by beta-arrestins. Science 298(5594):834-836.
- Pietrobon D. 2007. Familial hemiplegic migraine. Neurotherapeutics 4(2):274-284.
- Pongrakhananon V, Chunhacha P, Chanvorachote P. 2013. Ouabain suppresses the migratory behavior of lung cancer cells. PLoS One 8(7):e68623.
- Post RL, Hegyvary C, Kume S. 1972. Activation by adenosine triphosphate in the phosphorylation kinetics of sodium and potassium ion transport adenosine triphosphatase. J Biol Chem 247(20):6530-6540.
- Poulsen H, Nissen P, Mouritsen OG, Khandelia H.2012. Protein kinase A (PKA) phosphorylation of Na+/K+-ATPase opens intracellular C-terminal water pathway leading to third Na+-binding site in molecular dynamics simulations. J Biol Chem 287(19):15959-15965.
- Prinz F, Schlange T, Asadullah K. 2011. Believe it or not: how much can we rely on published data on potential drug targets? Nat Rev Drug Discov 10(9):712.
- Proenza C, O'Brien J, Nakai J, Mukherjee S, Allen PD, Beam KG. 2002. Identification of a region of RyR1 that participates in allosteric coupling with the alpha(1S) (Ca(V)1.1) II-III loop. J Biol Chem 277(8):6530-6535.
- Qu Q, Smith FI. 2004. Alpha-dystroglycan interactions affect cerebellar granule neuron migration. J Neurosci Res 76(6):771-782.
- Rankin ML, Marinec PS, Cabrera DM, Wang Z, Jose PA, Sibley DR. 2006. The D1 dopamine receptor is constitutively phosphorylated by G protein-coupled receptor kinase 4. Mol Pharmacol 69(3):759-769.
- Rankin ML, Sibley DR. 2010. Constitutive phosphorylation by protein kinase C regulates D1 dopamine receptor signaling. J Neurochem 115(6):1655-1667.
- Reiter E, Lefkowitz RJ. 2006. GRKs and beta-arrestins: roles in receptor silencing, trafficking and signaling. Trends Endocrinol Metab 17(4):159-165.
- Ribeiro CM, Dubay GR, Falck JR, Mandel LJ. 1994. Parathyroid hormone inhibits Na(+)-K(+)-ATPase through a cytochrome P-450 pathway. Am J Physiol 266(3 Pt 2):F497-505.

- Rodacker V, Toustrup-Jensen M, Vilsen B. 2006. Mutations Phe785Leu and Thr618Met in Na+,K+-ATPase, associated with familial rapid-onset dystonia parkinsonism, interfere with Na+ interaction by distinct mechanisms. J Biol Chem 281(27):18539-18548.
- Rosewich H, Thiele H, Ohlenbusch A, Maschke U, Altmuller J, Frommolt P, Zirn B, Ebinger F,
 Siemes H, Nurnberg P, Brockmann K, Gartner J. 2012. Heterozygous de-novo
 mutations in ATP1A3 in patients with alternating hemiplegia of childhood: a whole exome sequencing gene-identification study. Lancet Neurol 11(9):764-773.
- Rubi B, Ljubicic S, Pournourmohammadi S, Carobbio S, Armanet M, Bartley C, Maechler P.
 2005. Dopamine D2-like receptors are expressed in pancreatic beta cells and mediate inhibition of insulin secretion. J Biol Chem 280(44):36824-36832.
- Ruknudin AM, Lakatta EG. 2007. The regulation of the Na/Ca exchanger and plasmalemmal Ca2+ ATPase by other proteins. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1099:86-102.
- Shenoy SK, Lefkowitz RJ. 2011. beta-Arrestin-mediated receptor trafficking and signal transduction. Trends Pharmacol Sci 32(9):521-533.
- Shin DM, Dehoff M, Luo X, Kang SH, Tu J, Nayak SK, Ross EM, Worley PF, Muallem S. 2003. Homer 2 tunes G protein-coupled receptors stimulus intensity by regulating RGS proteins and PLCbeta GAP activities. J Cell Biol 162(2):293-303.
- Shinoda T, Ogawa H, Cornelius F, Toyoshima C. 2009. Crystal structure of the sodiumpotassium pump at 2.4 A resolution. Nature 459(7245):446-450.
- Singleton PA, Bourguignon LY. 2004. CD44 interaction with ankyrin and IP3 receptor in lipid rafts promotes hyaluronan-mediated Ca2+ signaling leading to nitric oxide production and endothelial cell adhesion and proliferation. Exp Cell Res 295(1):102-118.
- Sjogren B. 2011. Regulator of G protein signaling proteins as drug targets: current state and future possibilities. Adv Pharmacol 62:315-347.
- Stabach PR, Devarajan P, Stankewich MC, Bannykh S, Morrow JS. 2008. Ankyrin facilitates intracellular trafficking of alpha1-Na+-K+-ATPase in polarized cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 295(5):C1202-1214.
- Stetefeld J, Alexandrescu AT, Maciejewski MW, Jenny M, Rathgeb-Szabo K, Schulthess T, Landwehr R, Frank S, Ruegg MA, Kammerer RA. 2004. Modulation of agrin function by alternative splicing and Ca2+ binding. Structure 12(3):503-515.
- Suzuki N, Hajicek N, Kozasa T. 2009. Regulation and physiological functions of G12/13mediated signaling pathways. Neurosignals 17(1):55-70.
- Svenningsson P, Nishi A, Fisone G, Girault JA, Nairn AC, Greengard P. 2004. DARPP-32: an integrator of neurotransmission. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 44:269-296.
- Therien AG, Blostein R. 2000. Mechanisms of sodium pump regulation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 279(3):C541-566.
- Thul R, Bellamy TC, Roderick HL, Bootman MD, Coombes S. 2008. Calcium oscillations. Adv Exp Med Biol 641:1-27.
- Tu JC, Xiao B, Yuan JP, Lanahan AA, Leoffert K, Li M, Linden DJ, Worley PF. 1998. Homer binds a novel proline-rich motif and links group 1 metabotropic glutamate receptors with IP3 receptors. Neuron 21(4):717-726.
- Uhlen P, Fritz N. 2010. Biochemistry of calcium oscillations. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 396(1):28-32.
- Wagner LE, 2nd, Li WH, Joseph SK, Yule DI. 2004. Functional consequences of phosphomimetic mutations at key cAMP-dependent protein kinase phosphorylation sites in the type 1 inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor. J Biol Chem 279(44):46242-46252.

- Vakkuri O, Arnason SS, Joensuu P, Jalonen J, Vuolteenaho O, Leppaluoto J. 2001. Radioiodinated tyrosyl-ouabain and measurement of a circulating ouabain-like compound. Clin Chem 47(1):95-101.
- Vakkuri O, Arnason SS, Pouta A, Vuolteenaho O, Leppaluoto J. 2000. Radioimmunoassay of plasma ouabain in healthy and pregnant individuals. J Endocrinol 165(3):669-677.
- Walker SA, Kupzig S, Bouyoucef D, Davies LC, Tsuboi T, Bivona TG, Cozier GE, Lockyer PJ, Buckler A, Rutter GA, Allen MJ, Philips MR, Cullen PJ. 2004. Identification of a Ras GTPase-activating protein regulated by receptor-mediated Ca2+ oscillations. EMBO J 23(8):1749-1760.
- Wang H, Westin L, Nong Y, Birnbaum S, Bendor J, Brismar H, Nestler E, Aperia A, Flajolet M, Greengard P. 2009. Norbin is an endogenous regulator of metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 signaling. Science 326(5959):1554-1557.
- Verrey F, Beron J, Spindler B. 1996. Corticosteroid regulation of renal Na,K-ATPase. Miner Electrolyte Metab 22(5-6):279-292.
- Vines CM. 2012. Phospholipase C. Adv Exp Med Biol 740:235-254.
- Wing MR, Houston D, Kelley GG, Der CJ, Siderovski DP, Harden TK. 2001. Activation of phospholipase C-epsilon by heterotrimeric G protein betagamma-subunits. J Biol Chem 276(51):48257-48261.
- Violin JD, Lefkowitz RJ. 2007. Beta-arrestin-biased ligands at seven-transmembrane receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci 28(8):416-422.
- Woo AL, James PF, Lingrel JB. 2002. Roles of the Na,K-ATPase alpha4 isoform and the Na+/H+ exchanger in sperm motility. Mol Reprod Dev 62(3):348-356.
- Woods NM, Cuthbertson KS, Cobbold PH. 1986. Repetitive transient rises in cytoplasmic free calcium in hormone-stimulated hepatocytes. Nature 319(6054):600-602.
- Xu W, Chen C, Li JG, Dimattio K, Wang Y, Unterwald E, Liu-Chen LY. 2013. PKA and ERK1/2 are involved in dopamine D(1) receptor-induced heterologous desensitization of the delta opioid receptor. Life Sci 92(23):1101-1109.
- Xu ZW, Wang FM, Gao MJ, Chen XY, Shan NN, Cheng SX, Mai X, Zala GH, Hu WL, Xu RC. 2011. Cardiotonic steroids attenuate ERK phosphorylation and generate cell cycle arrest to block human hepatoma cell growth. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 125(3-5):181-191.
- Young KW, Nash MS, Challiss RA, Nahorski SR. 2003. Role of Ca2+ feedback on single cell inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate oscillations mediated by G-protein-coupled receptors. J Biol Chem 278(23):20753-20760.
- Yu P, Asico LD, Luo Y, Andrews P, Eisner GM, Hopfer U, Felder RA, Jose PA. 2006. D1 dopamine receptor hyperphosphorylation in renal proximal tubules in hypertension. Kidney Int 70(6):1072-1079.
- Yuan Z, Cai T, Tian J, Ivanov AV, Giovannucci DR, Xie Z. 2005. Na/K-ATPase tethers phospholipase C and IP3 receptor into a calcium-regulatory complex. Mol Biol Cell 16(9):4034-4045.
- Zamponi GW, Currie KP. 2013. Regulation of Ca(V)2 calcium channels by G protein coupled receptors. Biochim Biophys Acta 1828(7):1629-1643.
- Zeng C, Luo Y, Asico LD, Hopfer U, Eisner GM, Felder RA, Jose PA. 2003. Perturbation of D1 dopamine and AT1 receptor interaction in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertension 42(4):787-792.
- Zeng C, Wang Z, Hopfer U, Asico LD, Eisner GM, Felder RA, Jose PA. 2005. Rat strain effects of AT1 receptor activation on D1 dopamine receptors in immortalized renal proximal tubule cells. Hypertension 46(4):799-805.

- Zhang D, Hou Q, Wang M, Lin A, Jarzylo L, Navis A, Raissi A, Liu F, Man HY. 2009. Na,K-ATPase activity regulates AMPA receptor turnover through proteasome-mediated proteolysis. J Neurosci 29(14):4498-4511.
- Zhang S, Malmersjo S, Li J, Ando H, Aizman O, Uhlen P, Mikoshiba K, Aperia A. 2006. Distinct role of the N-terminal tail of the Na,K-ATPase catalytic subunit as a signal transducer. J Biol Chem 281(31):21954-21962.
- Zhong F, Davis MC, McColl KS, Distelhorst CW. 2006. Bcl-2 differentially regulates Ca2+ signals according to the strength of T cell receptor activation. J Cell Biol 172(1):127-137.
- Zhu DM, Tekle E, Chock PB, Huang CY. 1996. Reversible phosphorylation as a controlling factor for sustaining calcium oscillations in HeLa cells: Involvement of calmodulindependent kinase II and a calyculin A-inhibitable phosphatase. Biochemistry 35(22):7214-7223.